
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee

Members of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Thursday, 10 October 2019 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Terms of Reference - Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee (Pages 9 - 10)

6. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 (Pages 11 - 38)

7. Mid-Year Position 2019-20 - Progress and Performance Report (Pages 39 - 52)

8. Future Topics for Review (Pages 53 - 56)

9. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Minutes - June 2019 (Pages 57 - 64)

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.



Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

Members

Cllr Steve Thompson (Chair)
Cllr Baljit Hayre (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam
Gurjit Kaur Bains
John Caller
Aaron Elliott
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Nirmal Khabra
Emma Morley
Leslie Pearton
Lauren Sullivan
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 2 April 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Sara Langdale (Chair)
Cllr Greta Goatley (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Gurdip Ram Bungar
John Caller
Brian Francis
Rob Halpin
Karen Hurdle
Steve Thompson

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer Community Safety Operations Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

55. Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding.

An apology for absence was also received from Inspector Craig West (Kent Police).

56. Minutes 

In relation to Minute 29 of the meeting of the Committee held on 11 October 2018, the 
Assistant Director (Communities) confirmed that the letter to the Home Office requested by 
Members had been written and sent by Councillor John Knight, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Environmental Services.

The Assistant Director (Communities) also confirmed that the Terms of Reference for the 
Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee had been circulated to Members.

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2018 were signed by the Chair.

57. Declarations of Interest 

The Chair, Cllr Sara Langdale, declared an “Other Interest” as her daughter was a Police 
Officer base at the North West Kent Police Station.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

2

58. MHCLG Supporting Families Against Youth Crime 

The Committee was apprised of the Kent County Council (KCC) led successful bid to the 
Government’s Supporting Families Against Youth Crime Fund which had secured £1.3m for 
work to prevent young people becoming involved in gangs and youth violence as part of a 
two year project.

The Chair welcomed Colin Green, District Partnership Manager – KCC to the meeting.

The District Partnership Manager explained that he worked as part of the Troubled Families 
Programme (North Kent) team which had noticed an increase in cases of child exploitation. 
For example, nine children had been excluded from their school as they had been suspected 
of money laundering for a criminal group in North Kent and research had been undertaken 
which showed the need for more work in this area. KCC had given permission to submit a 
bid for funding from the £5m Supporting Families Against Youth Crime Fund made available 
by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MCHLG). Initially it had 
been suggested that a bid for £2.1m be made which would have included direct partnership 
working with a number of London Boroughs. However, due to an imminent restructure of the 
team at KCC and the opinion that the inclusion in the initial bid of four London Boroughs as 
strategic partners would complicate matters, it had been requested that the bid be reduced 
to £1.3m. This bid would include collaboration with Medway Council, Kent Police, the 
Metropolitan Police and the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The funding would be used in the coming two years to develop a service specification which 
would include two elements. The first was the development of a care team which would 
include a project manager, a support officer and an analyst. The second element would be a 
new commissioning service which would deliver in North Kent and Medway and four mentors 
and four trained community workers whom the project manager would oversee. Additionally 
there would also be two youth workers. It was also hoped to have a “community chest” of 
funding which appropriate community groups would be able to bid for. The District 
Partnership Manager was also keen to afford an out of hours telephone project. If additional 
funding could be accessed then a face to face service would be also considered. 

The Committee was advised that the new service would be committed to helping 50 families 
in the coming two years and would also include outreach sessions in schools and to other 
appropriate groups. A study would also be commissioned to investigate the efficiency of the 
work being undertaken by the service. It was hoped that the prevention and support work 
would in turn result in a positive outcome for these young people and their families.  

The Chair congratulated KCC on an outstanding project and thanked the District Partnership 
Manager for the initiative. This sentiment was echoed by the Committee.

The District Partnership Manager fielded questions from the Committee and the following 
was highlighted:

 The London Boroughs involved as informal partners were Lewisham, Greenwich, 
Bexley and Southwark. These London Boroughs relocated families at risk from youth 
crime into North Kent and when this type of move took place it happened 
immediately and KCC was not always kept informed. It was intended to formalise this 
process with a protocol as KCC would like to support these families with advice with 
regards to schooling and housing etc from day one.

Page 4



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

3

 The proximity of the relocated families to London had been raised but it was 
recognised that trying to manage and mitigate the risk to these families was the most 
important factor to be taken into account.

 To enable the service to be commissioned, KCC had been in discussion with 
potential providers. However, one of the risks of more of the government funding 
being accessed by London Boroughs was that this would attract the attention of the 
larger national organisations. The District Partnership Manager was not aware of any 
Kent organisations with the skills or scale-ability to deliver at the pace required by the 
Government. The Project Manager had been seconded into the team and a short 
procurement route introduced so KCC could get up to speed quickly and it was 
intended that the project would go live in July or August 2019.

 It was noted that there would be a preventative element and it was hoped that 25 
training sessions would be delivered by April 2020.

 The Community Chest initiative would also go live in July or August 2019.
 It was hoped that the project team would not have to set targets for specific areas of 

North Kent as this might curtail help and support being given to the most at risk 
families. It was also hoped that a case length need not be applied although it was 
recognised that the team would probably be able to work with families for up to 12 
months.

 It was intended to undertake a mapping and profiling exercise with Kent Police. The 
analyst would also develop a risk logic profile for high risk families which would be 
criteria and point weighted.

 Partnership working between Dartford and Gravesham was considered to be strong. 
Councillor Paul Carter – Leader of the County Council and Cabinet Member for 
Health Reform wanted to establish select committee and Public Health was already 
on board and the District Partnership Manager was confident that it would get the 
support it needs. A statutory duty for schools to report youth violence was also being 
introduced.

 Following a question on sustainability, it was explained that the original project had 
included four London Boroughs and had been favourably looked upon and the £5m 
pot had been doubled to £10m by the Government in recognition of the scale of the 
problem. Full advantage would be taken of future funding opportunities and there 
was a reasonable likelihood that these would arise.

 Members were advised that collaboration with the Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioners was yet to be explored and was an outstanding action. 

The Chair thanked the District Partnership Manager for a fascinating and comprehensive 
presentation and requested that the subject be revisited by the Committee in a year.

The Committee was asked to note the contents of the briefing document.

59. Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 - Priorities 

Members were apprised of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s 
(CSP) new three year Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 and the priorities contained 
therein. The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) advised that the first stage had 
included a strategic assessment. Once this assessment had been completed, a very brief 
public consultation exercise had taken place in an effort to clarify resident’s concerns with 
regard to their neighbourhoods and 420 responses had been received. There had been a 
clear indication of priorities which had included anti-social behaviour (mainly low level but 

Page 5



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

4

persistent), petty vandalism, litter and graffiti. Residential burglary and town centre safety 
had also been flagged. A low level of concern about violence had been expressed. In 
identifying priorities officers consider certain criteria including volume, trends and the added 
value that could be provided through partnership working. Members noted that it had been 
difficult to undertake year on year comparisons of recorded crime because of changes in 
Home Office Counting Rules and definitions but year on year analysis should begin to be 
possible from 2019/2020 onwards. 

The Strategy would be published on the Council’s website in mid-April and would run for 3 
years. The Strategy had been designed to be able to respond to changes in trends and 
legislation etc and the Members’ attention was drawn to the diagram on page 17 of the 
agenda which was used to communicate the aims of the Strategy to members of the public. 
Performance indicators had been included in the Strategy and would be reviewed on a 
quarterly basis.

The Chair thanked the officer for a useful and easy to understand document. 

Following questions from the Committee, the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) 
highlighted the following:

 A comment was made on paragraph 1.3 of the report which appeared to say that 
decisions on the priorities to be included in the Strategy had been made before the 
public consultation exercise. The officer clarified that the CSP had received the 
Strategy after the completion of the strategic assessment. This had taken place in 
January 2019 when the priorities had been approved based on the assessment 
alone. Following this, the public were approached with regard to their views. The 
Strategic assessment only considered recorded data and the public’s opinion was 
sought on issues that actually affect their lives. There was also an element of under-
reporting of certain issues. The officer was requested to rewrite this section.

 The officer explained the design of the questionnaire and gave an example of the 
questions therein. The questionnaire did not contain much data as the honest opinion 
of residents was required and it was intended that this exercise be repeated on an 
annual basis. The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) was requested to 
advertise the questionnaire and to aim for a broader sample in future. It was also 
agreed that Members be sent the questionnaire.

 It was noted that a consultation could be skewed by a number of factors including 
gender, age and perception and any conclusions should be tempered with this 
knowledge.

 Members were advised that the priorities had been agreed as a partnership and 
resources could be sought from all partners. It was noted that anti-social behaviour 
took up most of the time of the Community Safety Team and referrals from all kinds 
of places were received daily. The Police had to prioritise certain incidents at certain 
times depending on the level of severity and risk. For example, domestic abuse was 
not a high priority according to questionnaire responses, but it still took up a lot of 
time police time.

 The advice of the Communications Team had been sought when undertaking the 
consultation. The Communications Team had taken over publicising the 
questionnaire and had advertised on the Council’s social media pages, on the 
Council’s website and in the staff newsletter. The key age groups of respondents had 
been as follows:

66% female

Page 6



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

5

55-64 years – 27%
45-54 years – 26%
30-44 years – 14%

This spread had been much better than in previous years.

 Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon explained that Dartford and Gravesham were 
served by two police teams. The first was the local district team who responded to 
the highest impact scenarios and the most vulnerable in the community and generally 
only dealt with emergencies. The Community Safety Unit comprises three sergeants, 
three police constables and PCSOs and this team tackled lower level crime. Neither 
team was rich in resources.

 Following a question on “designing out” crime, the Committee was advised the 
physical works were routinely undertaken. An example was given with regard to the 
issues in Queen Street, Gravesend running down to the Riverside. A successful bid 
for funding had enabled the installation of two HD wireless high specification CCTV 
cameras (not covert) at either end of Queen Street which solved the problem of the 
gap in coverage. In addition, such actions as the closure of alley ways, the planting of 
prickly plants in planters to discourage loitering street drinkers had been undertaken 
and crime was designed out as much as possible. However the displacement of the 
activity also had to be taken into account.

 The second paragraph of paragraph 2.1 (iv) was highlighted and the Strategic 
Manager (Community Safety Unit) explained that there was a reluctance of victims to 
report certain types of crime because they sometimes experienced them so 
frequently that they could become normalised or some behaviour was not considered 
serious enough the report, for example racial verbal abuse on the daily commute to 
school, and therefore this was an issue the CSP wished to address. There had been 
a very good local campaign and a recent funding bid to the MHCLG had been 
successful and it was intended that the “No Space for Hate” campaign be increased 
and developed. This was not to be seen as an admission of failure but a need to 
know more detail and to continue to build victim’s confidence to report. Acting Chief 
Inspector Neil Loudon explained that hate crime was recognised as an issue that 
needed to be addressed and the police were briefed every morning on what had 
come in. However, he advised significant hate crime was very rare.

 The Committee was advised that hate crimes on social media were closely 
monitored. Victims of online hate crime who approached the police were offered 
support and, if appropriate, police action. However, despite this message being 
places on the social media pages of the police, victims were still reluctant to come 
forward.

 Members were advised of a meeting being arranged by Anita Tysoe – Service 
Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) for the week after next to discuss 
community cohesion issues in the current climate.

The report was noted.

60. Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel - Minutes of the meeting held on 
14 November 2018 

The Committee considered the Kent & Medway Police and Crime Panel minutes of the 
meeting held on 14 November 2018.

Page 7



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 2.04.2019

6

Members noted the content of the minutes.

61. Exclusion 

Resolved that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that 
the public be excluded during the following item of business because it was likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted that, if member of the public were 
present during this item, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

62. Gang-related Activity, County Lines and the Local Picture 

The Chair welcomed Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Detective Sergeant Ian 
Sanderson (Kent Police) to the meeting.

Detective Sergeant Ian Sanderson gave a presentation to the Committee on gang related 
activity, County lines and the local picture to enable a better understanding of the level and 
extent of gang related and criminal activity in Gravesham.

The Chair thanked Acting Chief Inspector Neil Loudon and Detective Sergeant Ian 
Sanderson for attending the meeting and the detailed information explained to Members. 

63. Thanks from the Chair 

On the conclusion of the meeting the Chair advised that this was the last meeting of the 
Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee that she would preside over and she thanked the 
Committee for keeping themselves informed, asking pertinent questions and for doing a 
great job.

The Chair also thanked the experts and specialists that had attended the meetings the 
backbone of which had been the police and she recognised the time they had given up and 
how busy they must be and stated it had been very much appreciated.

She also extended her thanks to the Assistant Director (Communities), the Strategy 
Manager (Community Safety Unit) and the Community Safety Operations Manager for their 
brilliant expertise.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.46 am

Page 8



Page 9 Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification:
Public
Key Decision:
No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Date: 10 October 2019

Reporting Officer: Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit

Subject: Dartford and Gravesham CSP Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide the Committee with the agreed final version of the Dartford and Gravesham Community 
Safety Partnership’s (CSP) three-year Community Safety Strategy 2019-22 and the priorities 
contained therein.

Recommendations
Members are asked to:

a) Note the content of the Strategy and the priorities for CSP multi-agency activity between 
2019-22 provided for Members’ information.

1. Background to the Strategy

1.1 At the last meeting of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee, Members were informed 
of the emergent priorities that had been identified by the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) following the annual Strategic Assessment process 
and a brief public consultation exercise.  At that time, the Strategy attached as Appendix 1 
to this report, was still being finalised therefore, it is now being provided to Members as it 
forms the foundation of anticipated CSP partner activity during the remainder of the current 
financial year through to March 2022.

1.2 Members had also been provided with background information to the formation of the 
Strategy at the last meeting.  There was interest in having further details on the public 
consultation survey that had been used by the CSP and Members asked to be provided 
with a copy of the Survey – this is attached as Appendix 2 to this report.

1.3 Since the last Scrutiny meeting, the Strategy has been placed on the Council’s website 
Community Safety Section together with the summarised Strategy on a Page’ (attached as 
Appendix 3).

1.4 The CSP meets on a quarterly basis and both Dartford and Gravesham’s Community 
Safety Units provide progress reports on key work that is being carried out in each Borough 
in addressing the strategic priorities at each meeting.  This allows the Partnership an 
opportunity to consider the impact that activity is having at an operational level as well as to 
report any challenges that are being met in order that partner agencies can try to resolve 
those collectively.  It also means that any unanticipated change in circumstances e.g. an 
unusual increase in a particular crime type or a concentration of a specific crime in a 
geographical location, can be addressed to prevent it escalating further.

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



2

1.5 Members of this Committee are provided with a performance and progress report on work 
undertaken in Gravesham between April-September 2019 to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in line with the Strategy’s objectives as a separate item on this Agenda.  

Appendix 1: Implications
Appendix 2: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22
Appendix 3: Community Safety Consultation Survey 2019
Appendix 4: Community Safety Strategy on a Page

Page 12



3

APPENDIX 1

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB (Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  
Finance and 
Value for 
Money

None.

Risk 
assessment

Failure to work effectively in partnership help tackle crime and ASB will reduce 
public confidence in the Local Authority’s ability to support individuals and 
communities and allow negative perceptions of the Borough to develop.  
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice?  N/a

Data 
Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – all communities will 
benefit from partnership activity to reduce crime and ASB.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Strategy makes a direct contribution to addressing a significant number of 
the commitments contained within the new Corporate Plan 2019-23.

Crime and 
Disorder

s.17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – as mentioned above.  

Digital/website 
website 
implications

None.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies – reflected in the Strategy.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

 

 

Dartford and 
Gravesham 
Community Safety 
Strategy 
      
 
      
 

2019-

2022 

Produced by Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 
 

 

Page 15



2 

 

Introduction  

Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is made up of statutory agencies brought 
together under a shared responsibility placed upon them by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  The Act has 
been amended over the years since its introduction to include responsibilities to not only reduce crime but 
to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB), recognising that this can have a considerable impact on local 
communities, and to lessen the reoffending of those who repeatedly commit crime.  

Key statutory partners have all faced reductions in expenditure and resources at a time when statutory 
requirements placed on Partnerships have increased and the community safety landscape is changing.  
Certain strands of criminal activity that have become national are challenging but the Partnership will aim to 
extend its joint working to bring in the relevant expertise and skills to help us tackle them, as well as 
addressing our local priorities.  We will ensure that our progress is monitored closely throughout the life of 
this strategy, with a full review at the end of each year to enable us to respond appropriately and effectively 
to changing circumstances.   

 

Our Partnership  
Dartford and Gravesham CSP has a strong track record of achievement in reducing crime and ASB and 
improving community safety locally.  This has only been possible because of the excellent working 
relationship between the specified authorities that make up the Partnership.  Currently these are:  

 Kent County Council;  

 Dartford Borough Council;  

 Gravesham Borough Council;  

 Kent Police;  

 Kent Fire and Rescue Service;  

 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group;  

 Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company;  

 Office of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner.  

These agencies all have a statutory duty to work together to tackle crime and disorder however, very 
significant contributions are made to Partnership activities by a host of voluntary and private sector groups, 
charitable organisations and local community groups, without which our ability to tackle community safety 
priorities would be much more restricted.  Each year the CSP has a legal duty to complete a Strategic 
Assessment of the levels of crime and ASB being experienced in our two Boroughs.  The purpose of the 
Assessment is to:  

 determine whether priorities remain the same or whether there are new priorities to address;  

 highlight performance, progress and achievements against commitments made in the previous 
Community Safety Plan; and, 

 identify key crime, disorder and ASB risks and threats to our local communities. 

As part of moving forward and developing a new Community Safety Strategy, the Partnership has also taken 
the opportunity to look back at recent successes which have laid the foundation for a number of initiatives, 
some of which will need to continue to be developed over the next few years.  The following highlights some 
of our most recent key successes. 

Page 16



3 

 

Key Partnership Successes 

Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse 

 Funding (£248,242 over 3 years to March 2020) secured from the Home Office Violence Against 
Women and Girls (VAWG) Transformation Fund to deliver the Altogether Safer Project across 
Dartford and Gravesham establishing an Out of Hours IDVA Service at North Kent Police Station; 
delivering the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 11-18 years and working 
with BAME and hard to reach victims to encourage accessing of services.  

 Secured £137,880 from the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Services Fund to run the Step Change Project 
(from early 2019) to provide intensive, wrap-around the family support to victims of domestic abuse 
with complex needs and for 1:1 and group support for their children. 

 Targeted work through each Borough’s multi-agency Vulnerability Forums to assist individuals with 
complex needs who are particularly vulnerable to safeguard them from harm and support them in 
accessing treatment services and accommodation. 

 Making full use of both permanent and rapid deployment CCTV camera systems in town centres to 
deter ASB and more serious offending behaviour, capture evidence and improve public safety. 

 Established local multi-agency Serious Youth Violence and Exploitation Groups to develop effective 
plans to provide interventions for young people identified as being involved or at risk of involvement 
in criminal activity. 

Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating criminal damage related to ASB) 

 Joint work between Dartford CSU and Kent Police to tackle ASB associated with street drinking to 
encourage individuals into treatment and support services. 

 Operation Ransom (Dartford) to address ASB caused by nuisance bikes through intelligence 
gathering to identify the riders, messaging highlighting offences and impact on local communities 
and through education delivered by the Youth Engagement PCSO. 

 Support provided to the countywide operations and successful multi-agency action in Dartford to 
address fly-tipping and environmental issues, targeting and using formal action against offenders. 

 Creation of a Safer Place Officer Team based within Gravesham CSU to provide a visible uniformed 
presence in the town centre, enforce the conditions of Gravesham’s Public Space Protection Order, 
issue fines for littering and dog fouling and signpost homeless people to services. 

 Interventions and enforcement action targeting adults and young people engaging in ASB to help 
change and reduce the impact of their behaviour. 

 Raising awareness of the dangers of fire raising and delivering fire safety messages. 

Acquisitive and  Property Crime 

 Delivery of seasonal initiatives raising awareness and providing advice to the public on steps to take 
to reduce the risk of burglary/guard against shed and garage breaks, motor vehicle crime and theft 
e.g. Christmas Safety Shop, Safer Summer Campaigns. 

 Use of G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices to deter 
persistent shoplifters from entering member premises and ensuring that there is good 
communication between both our Schemes and with other Schemes in the county to tackle cross-
border offending. 

 Joint work with KCC Wardens and Trading Standards to engage with and raise awareness of 
residents/communities in areas where issues such as scams and distraction burglary are more 
prevalent (e.g. elderly residents, residents affected by thefts of Asian gold). 

Substance Misuse 

 Joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed premises in both Dartford and Gravesham 
to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and to encourage the responsible sale of alcohol. 

 Referral of vulnerable individuals at risk of exploitation to local Vulnerability Groups to safeguard 
them against harm e.g. risk of cuckooing of their property due to substance dependency, and share 
intelligence to help bring offenders to justice. 

 Use of enforcement powers e.g. Criminal Behaviour Order, to take action against identified persistent 
offenders engaging in ASB where their behaviour is alcohol-related. 

Page 17



4 

 

 Targeted outreach work delivered by KCC Youth Workers and The Gr@nd Project Youth Workers to 
engage with young people at risk of drug-related ASB. 

 Using G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices for those 
individuals repeatedly involved alcohol or drug-related crime from member premises. 

Serious and Organised Crime  

 Established multi-agency Organised Crime forums with a broad representation of agencies to share 
intelligence/take joint action to disrupt Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) operating in our area. 

 Joint work between CSUs and Early Help Teams to commission educational interventions to prevent 
young people being drawn into gang and drug-related activity through 1:1 and group work. 

 Working with the Metropolitan Police staff and London Boroughs to improve information sharing, to 
identify young people who may live, socialise, go to school, or be living in care cross-border, to 
protect them from harm and/or being drawn into gang-related or other serious criminal activity. 

 Training delivered to partner agency representatives promote a better understanding of how OCGs 
operate, key categories of SOC and identification of good practice. 

 Publishing of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statements to raise awareness and guard 
against such activity presenting within local supply chains. 

 Participation in the Kent and Medway Prevent Delivery Group and in Channel Panels following 
referrals and awareness-raising amongst staff to mitigate against security risks. 

Reducing Reoffending 

 Joint working between partner agencies through the IOM process in order that potential issues that 
could affect an individual about to be released can be identified early on and tailored interventions 
developed to address factors influencing offending behaviour e.g. substance dependency. 

 Joint work with KSS CRC and the use of Community Payback Teams in both Boroughs. 

 Delivery of a restorative justice programme for young people, GLOW (led by G-Safe and KCC 
Community Wardens) for first-time shoplifters (young people and adults). 

 Targeted outreach youth work and programmes to engage with young people involved in repeat ASB 
to change their behaviour and divert them into constructive activity e.g. Climbing Fit. 

 Use of a range of enforcement powers e.g. Acceptable Behaviour Agreements, Community 
Protection Warnings and Notices, Criminal Behaviour Orders, to prevent reoffending. 

Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities 

 Continued development and delivery of the No Space for Hate Campaign through joint work with The 
Gr@nd Project and Youth Advisory Group, awareness raising sessions, a hate crime survey conducted 
in schools and through community events. 

 Successful bid to MCHLG Migration Fund for a Gravesham project, Altogether Stronger that includes: 
i) a youth project to integrate and safeguard young people from harm; ii) delivery of music and food 
cross-community events; iii) training and awareness raising on hate crime. 

 Vulnerability Groups established to ensure that intelligence is fully shared regarding high risk of harm 
individuals and multi-agency plans delivered to try to meet their needs. 

 Second successful bid to MHCLG Migration Fund with London Borough of Havering acting as the Lead 
Authority, partnered by Dartford, Gravesham and Bexley to provide access to the Origins Atlas 
software system to develop our intelligence in respect of migration and community cohesion. 

 Targeted work with women and girls from BAME backgrounds through the work of the Altogether 
Safer VAWG Project with a focus on the development of peer support groups in each Borough. 

 Councils continue to engage with emerging communities through the provision of publicly funded 
cultural and community events such as local Festivals, various outdoor cinema and theatre shows, 
Festival of Light, St. Georges Day Parade.  

 Dartford Civil Enforcement Officers regularly attend schools in the school safety van at relevant 
times to ensure adherence to safety measures such as zig-zag markings to reduce risks for school 
children and their families.  

Page 18



5 

 

Our New Objectives 
How have we identified our objectives?  

The Partnership has a statutory duty to produce an annual Strategic Assessment to measure our 
performance towards meeting our CSP objectives in tackling our agreed community safety priorities.  The 
Assessment collates considerable information and data from a broad range of partner agencies, detailing 
levels of crime and ASB that enables the CSP to consider the current position and any changing 
circumstances or emerging issues that could necessitate different approaches or interventions.   
 
Certain other considerations have been taken into account in addition to recorded figures and that have 
helped to identify those areas of work that now form the priorities contained in this new Community Safety 
Strategy 2019-2022.  These considerations include: 
 

 Volume – level of offences as a proportion of total crime; 
 

 Level of harm – impact offences have on victims and communities; 
 

 Community concern – level of priority which local people would attribute to a particular offence; 
 

 Partnership added-value – extent to which multi-agency working can enhance the ability of agencies 
to tackle a particular strand of offending behaviour; 
 

 Trend analysis – giving due consideration to patterns of increase in an offence type (where it is 
possible to ascertain). 
 

In addition, existing and emerging national priorities, legal obligations faced by CSPs, policing priorities 
included in both the Kent Police Control Strategy and the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Policing and 
Crime Plan, are also taken into account.   
 
Public Opinion 
The need for local people to be given an opportunity to voice their views and opinions is recognised as 
crucially important in achieving long-term change and improving community safety.  Whilst statistics can 
provide a good foundation in identifying priorities, relying on them alone may result in issues that are key 
concerns in local neighbourhoods being missed.   
 
A public opinion survey was conducted between 18 February and 3 March 2019 which was made available 
on both the Gravesham and Dartford Borough Council websites and via each Borough’s social media 
platforms including Facebook, Instagram and Twitter.  People who either live or work in Dartford or 
Gravesham were invited to complete the survey which asked them to identify those community safety 
issues that, in their experience, were of the greatest concern in their neighbourhood.  A total of 420 people 
responded – 299 (71.19%) of these either lived or worked in Gravesham and 121 (28.81%) of respondents 
either lived or worked in Dartford. 
 
Respondents were asked to select the single MOST important issue in their local area.  407 people 

answered this question and the vast majority stated that ASB was their main concern – 163 (40.05% of all 

respondents).   

Page 19



6 

 

 

Once people had identified what they felt was the most important issue in their area, they were also asked 

to choose their top 3 concerns within that category with the following results: 

Most Important Issue Top 3 issues within this category 

ASB 163 respondents (40% of total) Of 154 respondents to this question: 
Fly-tipping 65 (42%) 
Using/dealing drugs 62 (40%) 
Noisy/rowdy behaviour 61 (39%) 

Property crime 94 respondents (23%) Of 85 respondents to this question: 
Residential burglary 81 (95%) 
Shed/garage breaks 63 (74%) 
Theft of motor vehicles 49 (57%) 

Town centre safety 80 respondents (20%) Of 71 respondents to this question: 
Groups gathering on the street 45 (63%) 
Violence in the evening/NTE 43 (60%) 
Public place violence 27 (38%) 

Violence 37 (10%) Of 34 respondents to this question: 
Youth violence 22 (65%) 
Gun/knife crime 19 (56%) 
Robbery 16 (47%) 

Substance misuse 33 (8%) Of 29 respondents to this question: 
Drug dealing 24 (83%) 
Class A drug use 17 (59%) 
Cannabis use (45%) 

 

Breakdown of respondents who completed the survey 

Age from 342 responses % Ethnicity from 342 responses % Gender from 342 responses % 

18-24 3.5% White British 88.0% Male 30.5% 

25-34 9.0% White Irish 2.5% Female 66.5% 

35-44 14.5% White Other 3.0% Transgender 0.25% 

 
45-54 

 
27.0% 

White and Black 
African 

 
1.0% 

 
Not provided 

 
2.75% 

 
55-64 

 
27.0% 

Any other mixed 
background 

 
0.25% 

 

65+ 17.0% Indian 1.0% 

Not provided 2.0% Bangladeshi 0.5% 

 Chinese 0.25% 

Caribbean 0.25% 

Other 0.25% 

Not provided 3.0% 

9%

23%

20%

40%

8%

Single most important concern in local areas

Violence

Property crime

Town centre safety

ASB

Substance misuse

Page 20



7 

 

Governance  
The Partnership has been structured to ensure that the priorities in this Strategy can be effectively delivered 

and that performance and progress is regularly monitored with appropriate checks and balances to keep our 

work on track.  As well as a joint overarching strategic group that brings together statutory agencies at a most 

senior level, the Partnership has a number of Operational Groups that deliver projects on the ground.  Each 

Borough’s Community Safety Unit (CSU), carries out the day-to-day co-ordination of Partnership activity.  The 

positions of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Partnership are alternated between the two Councils’ Leaders or Lead 

Member for Community Safety/Public Protection and senior officers representing strategic links to other 

partnership boards provide co-ordination across the piece. 

Partnership Organisational Structure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Further Groups also contributing to the work of the Partnership include: G-Safe, D-TAC, Kent and Medway Prevent 
Delivery Board and the Dartford and Gravesham Integrated Offender Management (IOM) Meeting. 

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM 
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP) 

CSP Executive Group 

 

Dartford 
Community Safety Unit 

Gravesham 
Community Safety Unit 

 

Vulnerability Forum 

North Kent Domestic Abuse 
Forum 

Vulnerability and Organised 
Crime Panel 

Community Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference  

(Vulnerability Forum) 
 

Serious Organised Crime 
Group 

Community Policing Team ASB Group 

CSU Daily Briefings CSU Daily Briefings 

 

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 

Dartford and Gravesham Serious 
Youth Violence and Exploitation 

Group 

Altogether Safer – Reducing 
VAWG Project Group 

Page 21



8 

 

Priority 1: Violent Crime including Domestic 
Abuse 

Why is this important? 

Protecting people from harm has been identified as a priority because the Partnership recognises that 

personal safety is paramount.  Certain offences such as domestic abuse or sexual offences, are known to 

suffer from under-reporting and significant Partnership work has taken place over a number of years to raise 

awareness of services and assistance, particularly amongst hard to reach groups and encourage victims to 

come forward.  National and global attention to sexual violence and abuse has generated public debate and 

this, together with a series of local initiatives that have been helping to fill gaps in services, have contributed 

to increases in reports to Police and other agencies. 

Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) is a national priority and considerable work is being undertaken 

in Dartford and Gravesham through our Home Office funded, Altogether Safer, project.  The project has 

helped to provide the right services at the point of need, carried out work with boys and young men to help 

break the cycle of VAWG and raised awareness within our local BAME community of support services to help 

remove cultural barriers to access. 

Whilst most serious violent offences remain rare, violent crime (offences of violence against the person, 

sexual offences and robberies) still accounts for the greatest proportion of total crime in both Dartford and 

Gravesham (over 40% in each area) and about a quarter of violent offences involve injury to the victim.   

What is our focus? 

 To continue to raise awareness of VAWG in all its forms, to increase victim confidence to report and 

seek specialist help; 

 To work in partnership with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Group to address violence committed 

against children and young people; 

 To ensure that specialist support is available to victims of violence to see them through the justice 

system to help increase the number of perpetrators brought to justice; 

 To safeguard vulnerable adults from the risk of harm; 

 To improve our intelligence picture of violence occurring in public places. 

 

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Deliver the Altogether Safer Project, including the Out of Hours Police Station based Independent 

Domestic Violence Advisor Service; the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 11-

18 years and hold the annual female-audience VAWG Listen to our Voices Conference to raise 

awareness of factors affecting behaviour and influencing domestic abuse; 

 Work in partnership with Choices Domestic Abuse Services to deliver the Ministry of Housing 

Communities and Local Government funded Step Change project to provide a wrap-around-the-

family service for victims of domestic abuse with complex needs and their children; 

 Ensure high-risk victims are effectively supported through the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 

Conference process; 

 Support victims of domestic abuse to remain in their own homes by providing increased home 

security improvements through the Sanctuary scheme; 

Page 22



9 

 

 Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes 

to moderate the behaviour of those involved in violent offending. 

 

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in violent crime (non-domestic) recorded in each Borough; 

 Increased accessing of services by victims of domestic abuse (particularly from BAME and other hard 

to reach victims); 

 An increased awareness of the strands of VAWG and support services available; 

 Improvement in the detection rate of violence with injury offences (non-domestic); 

 Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender 

Management Programme; 

 Sound intelligence picture of hot spot locations for violent offences in public places (non-domestic); 

 Reduction in violence with injury offences within hotspot locations and night-time economy areas. 

 

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of domestic abuse reports to Police; 

 Number of domestic abuse victims accessing local services; 

 Rate of prosecutions of offenders of domestic abuse; 

 Number of violent offences recorded in each Borough; 

 Number of violence with injury offences in hotspot locations; 

 Number of serious violent offences.  

 

  

Page 23



10 

 

Priority 2: Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour 
and Environmental Crime  

Why is this important? 

Preventing and tackling persistent Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) is frequently identified as a key priority by local 
communities because of the impact it has on quality of life within neighbourhoods.  Within town centres, 
ASB also has the ability to negatively impact local businesses and is particularly damaging to public 
perceptions of local areas.  Tackling ASB is resource-intensive and benefits significantly from multi-agency 
working, particularly where the ASB is intrinsically linked to drug and alcohol misuse as well as fly-tipping - a 
specific issue that effects both our rural and urban communities. 

Although the Partnership identifies ASB as a key priority, both Dartford and Gravesham have seen significant 
decreases in the recorded levels of ASB in the year ending 30 September 2018, which are mirrored across 
the county.  Dartford has seen a decrease of 26.7% of recorded ASB incidents and Gravesham had a decrease 
of 22.3%.  It is clear from our public consultation exercise that ASB still remains the primary community safety 
concern for local people and therefore, the Partnership needs to continue to work towards reducing the 
problems associated with ASB further.  

Fly-tipping is seen as a key manifestation of ASB and potentially, a factor in crime and fear of crime and is 
frequently linked to deliberate fire-setting.  It has an adverse effect on the quality of life of local residents 
and also affects economic development/tourism, making areas less attractive to potential investors and 
visitors.  Both Dartford and Gravesham Councils work with a range of agencies in taking enforcement action 
against offenders whenever possible through both reactive investigations and proactive operations. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to reduce ASB incidents by taking a holistic approach in each case looking at any 

underlining issues which need to be addressed; 

 To utilise the powers and legislation available to Councils and other partners to combat ASB; 

 To continue to prosecute individuals that fly-tip in our Boroughs; 

 To reduce the number of deliberate and accidental fires. 

 

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Undertake proactive operations in partnership with the police in relation to fly-tipping, by checking 

for waste carrier licenses etc.  

 Working in partnership to support victims of ASB and to assist perpetrators in changing their 

behaviours; 

 Awareness raising via Kent Fire and Rescue Service around accidental fires and fire safety;  

 

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in ASB incidents recorded in each Borough; 

 Increase in percentage of Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly-tipping offences; 

 Reduction in fly-tipping incidents;  

 Reduction in deliberate fires. 

 

 

Page 24



11 

 

 

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents reported to the Police in the each Borough; 

 Number of active ASB cases being investigated by each District; 

 Number of graffiti incidents; 

 Number of fly-tipping incidents; 

 Number of fly-tipping prosecutions; 

 Number of ASB incidents reported; 

 Number of Community Protection Warnings/Notices and Acceptable Behaviour Agreements issued;  

 Number of deliberate fires; 

 Numbers of repeat victims of ASB; 

 Numbers of repeat locations for ASB; 

 Numbers of reported incidents of fly-tipping. 

  

Page 25



12 

 

Priority 3: Preventing Offending and 
Reducing Re-offending 

Why is this important? 

Preventing offending has been identified as a priority because the Partnership understands the detrimental 

impact that crime has on victims, their families and local communities.  The focus of partnership activity will 

aim to disrupt Serious and Organised Crime and prevent and reduce youth offending (which will encompass 

gang-related crime).  Serious and Organised Crime and gang-related youth violence are now recognised as 

national priorities by Central Government and there is an expectation that Community Safety Partnerships 

will have a much more proactive role than has historically been the case, in working more closely with law 

enforcement agencies that have traditionally been the primary organisations to tackle these issues.  

Integrated Offender Management (IOM) is a multi-agency process for identifying those offenders who have 
or are causing harm to communities through their criminal and/or anti-social behaviour.  Multi-agency 
expertise and resources are pooled to try to identify ways of reducing reoffending.  The most common 
priority groupings both at county and local level related to involvement in Serious and Acquisitive Crime - 
equivalent to 64.1% of the total cohort of prolific offenders locally. 

Government has also recently highlighted that knife crime is increasing nationally and with that in mind both 
Boroughs are working closely with Trading Standards (KCC) targeting knife sales to underage children, 
through work with local shops and supporting them with their ‘Challenge 25’ policies and through test 
purchasing to ensure that retailers are abiding to their own policies and legal responsibilities.   

What is our focus? 

 To continue to improve our intelligence picture of Serious and Organised Crime Groups, and gang- 

related activity in our areas; 

 To work in partnership with appropriate agencies to address re-offending and take a holistic 

approach, by addressing the reasons why individuals re-offend; 

 Raise awareness of gangs and knife crime including and appreciation of the consequences and risks 

of carrying knives/other weapons both amongst young people and their families but also to increase 

the understanding of this issue amongst front line professionals;  

 To safeguard potential victims of crime. 

 

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Continue with a multi-agency approach to disrupting Serious and Organised crime using powers and 

authorisations that are available to different agencies; 

 Deliver training to frontline staff on how to best work with young people involved in gangs including 

identifying when young people may be involved in gangs and exit strategies; 

 Working in partnership to help support the Kent and Medway Gang Strategy; 

 Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes 

to moderate the behaviour of those that have been known to offend/re-offend; 

 Support victims of crime via other agencies such as Neighbourhood Watch, whilst offering advice on 

scams to those identified as more vulnerable to becoming victims of Serious and Organised Crime; 

 Work with and support Kent Trading Standards with knife test purchase operations whilst raising the 

importance of ‘Challenge 25’ with local businesses.  

Page 26



13 

 

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 Reduction in crime recorded in each Borough; 

 Reduction in the number of young people committing crime; 

 An increased awareness gangs to young people to avoid them becoming involved in or targeted by 

gangs; 

 Improvement in the detection and disruption of Organised Crime Groups; 

 Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender 

Management Programme; 

 Sound intelligence picture of the current gangs operating in and around our Boroughs. 

 

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of services users who re-offend; 

 Number of total crimes committed in each borough; 

 Number of young people committing crime. 

 

  

Page 27



14 

 

Priority 4: Protecting Vulnerable People and 

Strengthening Communities 
Why is this important? 

CSP members share Safeguarding responsibilities to protect people who are more vulnerable to harm for a 

variety of reasons.  In addition to those who are susceptible to harm through such factors as their age, 

disability, gender, religion and belief, or sexual orientation there are those who find themselves in specific 

circumstances that make them vulnerable to being victimised repeatedly. 

Recent work in both Dartford and Gravesham has reinforced the value of a joint, multi-agency approach of 

delivering tailored interventions to identified individuals and/or families.  Vulnerable people are frequently 

repeat victims; ensuring they receive relevant and timely support will help to bring offenders to justice and 

ultimately also reduce demand on services. 

Our Boroughs are already the most diverse in the county and given level of housebuilding that is currently 

being enjoyed across the area, this is set to continue as new communities move into North Kent.  Experience 

from other parts of the country indicates that such rapid change presents a risk of increased hate crime and 

a threat to community resilience and cohesion which is already heightened. 

In addition, both Local Authorities have a legal duty to take steps to reduce the threats posed by terrorism 

and extremism as well as mitigating against security risks. 

What is our focus? 

 To continue to raise awareness of hate crime, in all its forms, to increase victim confidence and seek 
support; 

 To understand the changing demography of the CSP area; 

 To continue to provide events that are accessible to all and strengthen communities; 

 To raise awareness amongst children who are vulnerable by age to criminal exploitation;  

 To safeguard vulnerable children who are directly at risk of harm; 

 To protect specific communities who are more vulnerable to particular crimes. 
 

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do? 

 Produce an ethno cultural profile and to understand how both Districts are changing using the 
Origins Database as provided through the recently successful Migration Fund bid; 

 Identify and support specific communities who are at high risk of domestic burglaries;  

 Ensure both Districts’ Vulnerability Fora continue to support those in need through the 
implementation of multi-agency plans; 

 Work with KCC to take maximum advantage of £1.3m secured from the Government’s Supporting 
Families against Youth Crime Fund to help prevent young people becoming involved in gangs and 
youth violence; 

 To continue to develop collaborative working with London Boroughs to share operational 
intelligence about  Child Criminal Exploitation; 

 To continue to support the Kent Prevent Duty Delivery Board and a County Channel Panel as 
required by the Prevent Duty contained within the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015;  

 Provide training to frontline staff in relation to Child Criminal Exploitation; 

 Continue to work with schools in relation to Student Financial exploitation; 

 Relaunch the Shop Safe scheme (Dartford) and continue with the Scheme in Gravesham; 

Page 28



15 

 

 Provide support to members of the community who are vulnerable due to their individual 
circumstance; 

 Ensure that the emerging communities are aware Community Events being held. 
 

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy? 

 An understanding of the changing demographic profile of both Districts, with effective community 
cohesion between long standing and new communities; 

 Increase in confidence of hate crime victims resulting in greater reporting of hate crime and the 
number of offenders brought to justice; 

 Established working practices between us and neighbouring London Boroughs that identify and 
mitigate risks caused through the safeguarding moves of families whose child/children have been 
criminally exploited.  

 

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring 

 Number of reported hate crimes reported; 

 Percentage of hate crimes detected; 

 Number of Safe and Well Visits conducted by Kent Fire and Rescue; 

 Number of Community Events held; 

 Number of homeless applicants placed in Temporary Accommodation; 

 Number of households where homelessness has been prevented; 

 Number of Prevent and Channel Referrals. 
  

Page 29



16 

 

Key Contacts 

Dartford Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
Kent DA1 1DR 
Tel. 01322 343434 
 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 01474 337000 
www.gravesham.gov.uk 

Kent Police 
Thames Way 
Northfleet 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 8BD 
Tel. 01474 369055 
www.kent.police.uk 
 

Kent County Council 
Community Safety Unit 
Invicta House 
Maidstone 
Kent ME14 1XX 
Tel. 08458 247247 
www.kent.gov.uk 
 

Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
The Godlands 
Straw Mill Hill 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6XB 
Tel. 01622 692121 
www.kent.fire-uk.org 
 

Kent, Surrey & Sussex 
Community Rehabilitation Company 
Joynes House 
New Road 
Gravesend 
Kent DA11 0AT 
Tel. 01474 569546 
www.ksscrc.co.uk 

NHS Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
2nd Floor, Gravesham Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
Kent DA12 1AU 
Tel. 03000 424903 
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk 
 

Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
1st Floor, Gail House 
Lower Stone Street 
Maidstone 
Kent ME15 6NB 
Tel. 01622 677055 
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 30



Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership

Community Safety Priorities – Public Opinion Survey 2019

Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) bring together agencies and organisations to work jointly to 
reduce crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB) in their local areas.  CSPs are legally required to carry 
out an audit of crime and disorder each year by collating relevant information held by partner 
agencies to help identify community safety priorities so that resources and efforts can be best 
targeted.  However, the Partnership recognises that it is important not to rely on recorded 
statistics alone.  The roots and causes of crime and ASB can be complex and we want to hear the 
views of local residents and people who live in Dartford or Gravesham on how crime and disorder 
affects them and what they feel are the priorities within their neighbourhoods.

The findings from this survey will be used to supplement the recorded data that we have gathered 
and will be taken into consideration as the Partnership develops a new Community Safety Strategy 
for 2019-22.

This survey should take no more than 5-10 minutes to complete and you are not asked to 
provide your name or address.

Page 31



1. Which Local Authority area do you live in?

Dartford 

Gravesham 

(If you do not live in the area, you can select the area you work in).

2. From the list below please select the single MOST important issue that concerns your 
local area? (When you click on your choice below, you will be given further options).

Violence 

Property crime 

Town Centre safety 

Anti-social behaviour 
Substance misuse 

(Depending on the issue chosen above, Q.2 will then be followed by a tailored Q.3 with 
further questions related to that issue)

If Violence is selected as the Most Important issue:

3. You have stated that Violence is your most important issue.  Please identify the Top 3 
issues within this category that you feel needs addressing in your area:

Youth violence 

Sexual violence 

Robbery 

Domestic abuse 

Night-time economy violence 

Drug trafficking and dealing-related violence 

Alcohol-related violence 

Gun/knife crime 

Modern slavery/human trafficking 

Hate crime 

Have you ever been a victim of violent crime?  Yes   No 
Did you report this to the Police?  Yes   No 

If Property Crime is selected as the Most Important issue:

You have stated that Property Crime is your most important issue.  Please identify the Top 
3 issues within this category that you feel needs addressing in your area:

Page 32



Residential burglary 

Shed/garage break-ins 

Burglary – business premises 

Theft of motor vehicles 

Theft from motor vehicles 

Shoplifting 

Identity theft 

Theft through ‘scams’/deception 

Have you ever been a victim of property crime?  Yes   No 
Did you report this to the Police?  Yes   No 

If Town Centre safety is selected as the Most Important issue:

You have stated that Town Centre safety is your most important issue.  Please identify the 
Top 3 issues within this category that you feel needs addressing in your area:

Public place violence 

Robbery 

Burglary – business premises 

Homelessness/rough sleeping 

Aggressive begging 

Violence during evening/night time economy 

Poor street-lighting 

Alcohol misuse/street drinking 

Drug misuse 

Feeling unsafe because of lack of people in area 

Groups gathering on the street 

Have you ever been a victim of crime whilst in the Town Centre area?  Yes   No 
Did you report this to the Police?  Yes   No 

If Anti-Social Behaviour is selected as the Most Important issue:

You have stated that Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) is your most important issue.  Please 
identify the Top 3 issues within this category that you feel needs addressing in your area:

Alcohol-related ASB 

Using or dealing of drugs 

Litter and dog fouling 

Uncontrolled pets 

Noisy/rowdy behaviour 

Fly-tipping 

Page 33



Nuisance vehicles/bikes 

Parking/irresponsible driving 

Fire/arson-related ASB 

Criminal damage (e.g. vandalism, graffiti) 

Unauthorised encampments 

Have you ever been a victim of ASB? Yes   No   
Did you report this to the Police?  Yes   No 

If Substance Misuse is selected as the Most Important issue:

You have stated that Substance Misuse is your most important issue.  Please identify the 
Top 3 issues within this category that you feel needs addressing in your area:

Alcohol misuse 

Street drinking 

Irresponsible sales of alcohol 

Class A drug use (e.g. heroin, cocaine) 

Cannabis use 

Recreational drug use 

Drug dealing 

Have you ever been a victim of crime linked to substance misuse?  Yes   No 
Did you report this to the Police?  Yes   No 

4. From the list below please select the SECOND most important issue that concerns your 
local area? (When you click on your choice below, you will be given further options).

Violence 

Property crime 

Town Centre safety 

Anti-social behaviour 
Substance misuse 

(Same process then followed as in Q. 3)

5. From the list below please select the THIRD most important issue that concerns your 
local area? (When you click on your choice below, you will be given further options).
Violence 

Property crime 

Town Centre safety 

Anti-social behaviour 
Substance misuse  (Same process then followed as in Q. 3)

Page 34



6. About you
These details will be used for statistical purposes only – it will not be possible to identify 
you from the responses you give to these questions.

Are you? Male 

Female 

Transgender 

Prefer not to say 

How old are you? Under 18 

18-24 

25-34 

35-44 

45-54 

55-64 

65/+ 

Prefer not to say 

Which of the following best describes your ethnic background?
White British 
White Irish   
White – other  
White and Black Caribbean   
White and Black African    
White and Asian    
Any other mixed background 
Indian  
Pakistani   
Bangladeshi  
Chinese   
Any other Asian background  
Caribbean    
African   
Any other Black background     
Polish  
Lithuanian  
Slovakian  
Any other Eastern European background 
Other  

   Prefer not to say 

Are you registered disabled?   Yes   No  Prefer not to say  

7. Postcode
Letting us know your postcode will help us to check how priorities vary in different areas.  
It will also help us look into any neighbourhood issues you may have raised.  We will not be 
able to identify you from your postcode.

Page 35



Postcode……………………….  Prefer not to say 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.  Final priorities will be decided by 
the CSP by the end of March 2019 and the new Community Safety Strategy will be 
published shortly after and available to view online on both Dartford and Gravesham 
Council websites.

Page 36



Violent Crime including Domestic Abuse 
AIMS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Why is this a Priority? 

 Violent crime accounts for over 40% of total crime locally; 

 Offences such as domestic abuse and sexual violence disproportionately suffer from under-reporting; 

 Most serious violence is rare but about a quarter of violent offences involve some injury to victims; 

 Violence in public places affects perceptions that can damage our evening and night-time economies; 

 Personal safety and protecting people from physical harm remains paramount. 
 

What is our aim for change by 2022? 
 Reduction in violent crime (non-domestic) recorded in each Borough; 

 Increased use of services by victims of domestic abuse (particularly from BAME and hard to reach groups); 

 Improvement in the detection rate of violence with  injury offences (non-domestic); 

 Successful behaviour change of offenders through the Integrated Offender Management Programme; 

 Sound intelligence picture of hot spot locations for violent offences in public places (non-domestic); 

 Reduction in violence with injury offences within hotspot locations and night-time economy areas. 

Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour & Environmental Crime 
AIMS  

 

Why is this a Priority? 
  40% of respondents to our Opinion Survey identified ASB as their most serious community safety issue; 

 Tackling ASB is resource-intensive and intrinsically linked to drug and alcohol misuse as well as issues such as 
criminal damage, graffiti and vandalism; 

 ASB has an adverse effect of the quality of life of local residents and also affects local businesses and 
investment within our town centres. 

 

What is our aim for change by 2022? 
 Reduction in ASB incidents recorded in each Borough; 

 Reduction in criminal damage offences recorded; 

 Increase in percentage of Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly-tipping offences/reduction in fly-tipping; 

 Reduction in deliberate fires; 

 Reduction in repeat victims of ASB; 

 Better partnership responses to tackling ASB. 

Preventing Offending  
& Re-offending 
 

Why is this a Priority? 
 Crime has a detrimental impact on victims, families and local communities; 

 Serious and Organised Crime, gang-related activity and youth violence are national and local priorities; 

 Integrated Offender Management provides a strong multi-agency process for reducing re-offending but the 
local focus also needs to be on preventing young people from being drawn into crime at all; 
 

What is our aim for change by 2022? 
 Reduction in crime recorded in each Borough; 

 Reduction in the number of young people committing crime; 

 Fewer young people becoming involved in or targeted by gangs; 

 Improvement in the detection and disruption of Organised Crime Groups; 

 Successful behaviour change of offenders through the Integrated Offender Management Programme 
 

AIMS 

Protecting Vulnerable People  
& Strengthening Communities 

 

Why is this a Priority? 
 Partner agencies share statutory Safeguarding responsibilities to protect vulnerable people from harm; 

 Multi-agency work through local Vulnerability Groups has demonstrated the value of this approach; 

 Issues such as hate crime need to be challenged to protect community cohesion; 

 We need to demonstrate a clear zero tolerance approach to all forms of hate crime and encourage more 
victims to report and access services. 
 

What is our aim for change by 2022? 
 Understanding of changing demographics  with effective cohesion between long-standing and new 

communities; 

 Increase in confidence of victims to report hate crime and more  offenders brought to justice; 

 Established working practices with neighbouring areas that identify and mitigate risks caused through the 
safeguarding moves of families whose child/children have been criminally exploited. 
 

AIMS 

 
 

More offenders prosecuted 
 

 
 

 

Less victims of violence 
 

 

Better support for victims 
 

 
 

 

People are encouraged and 

know how to report ASB 

 
 

Cleaner, safer neighbourhoods 
 

 
 

 

People feel safer at home and 

when out and about 

 
 

LesLDisruption of Organised 

Crime 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Fewer young people offending 

for the first time 

 
 

 

Changing behaviour through 

Offender Management 

 
 

 

 

 

Greater partnership working 

to counter extremism 

 

 

 

Strengthened community 

cohesion 

 
 

 

More support for victims of 

hate crime 

 
 

 

Dartford and Gravesham 

Community Safety Partnership Strategy 2019-22 

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification:
Public
Key Decision:
No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Date: 10 October 2019

Reporting Officer: Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit

Subject: Mid-Year Position 2019-20 – Progress and Performance Report

Purpose and summary of report:
This report provides Members with details of key work that has been undertaken during the period 
April-September 2019 or that is planned for delivery this year in addressing the strategic priorities 
identified in the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22.

Recommendations
Members are invited to note and comment upon the content of the report.

1. Introduction

1.1 Members have been made aware of the strategic priorities of the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) through the preceding Agenda Item.  The CSP’s 
Community Safety Strategy provides the foundation for partnership activity which may 
include projects and initiatives delivered by statutory partners working jointly across our two 
Boroughs or activity driven by Community Safety Units (CSUs) at a local level.  

1.2 The purpose of this report is to give Members’ an overview of the progress that has been 
made in addressing our new strategic priorities as we reach the mid-point of this financial 
year.  Each of the priorities is considered individually below highlighting some of the key 
work that has either already taken place or that is planned for delivery during the remainder 
of this year.  

1.3 Where available, the most recently published recorded crime and anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) figures have been considered with comparisons being drawn between figures for the 
period April-August 2019 and the same period last year.  Following a number of changes in 
Home Office Counting Rules, definitions in crime categories and increased accuracy in the 
recording of crime generally, we are now in a position to be able to reliably make year-on-
year data comparisons in considering the impact of local activity.

2. Kent Police Recorded Crime

2.1 Whilst the table below demonstrates that rates of total recorded offences per 1,000 
population are higher in North Division (Dartford, Gravesham, Medway and Swale), it is 
very positive that (with the exception of Dartford), our Districts have recorded greater 
decreases in total crime than the Kent average.  In Gravesham, a total of 5,370 offences 
were recorded between April-August 2019 compared to 5,915 offences in the previous year 
– a drop of 9.2% (545 fewer crimes).  This compares to an average decrease across Kent 
and Medway of 8.8%.

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



2

Kent Police Recorded Crime – Kent and Medway Comparisons
Total Crime - Apr-Aug 2018 and Apr-Aug 2019

Area Apr-Aug 18 Apr-Aug 19 % change
Per 1,000 

popn.
Ashford 5,878 5,250 -10.7 40.6
Canterbury 7,286 6,702 -8.0 40.7
Dartford 6,028 5.687 -5.6 51.8
Dover 5,659 5,014 -11.4 42.8
Gravesham 5,915 5,370 -9.2 50.5
Maidstone 7,842 7,239 -7.7 42.6
Medway 15,924 14,182 -10.9 51.0
Sevenoaks 3,976 3,636 -8.5 30.2
Shepway 5,420 4,931 -9.0 43.8
Swale 8,066 7,231 -10.3 48.7
Thanet 9,938 9,150 -7.9 64.5
Tonbridge and Malling 4,419 4,322 -2.2 33.1
Tunbridge Wells 4,137 3,822 -7.6 32.4
Kent 90,488 82,537 -8.8 44.7

2.2 Following several years of increases in crime, some of which would have been directly 
related to the changes in recording practices mentioned earlier, most recent data suggests 
that we may be seeing the beginning of a downward trend.  The table on the following page 
clearly indicates that reductions have been achieved across virtually all crime categories 
and that in most instances where increases are seen, these are numerically very small.  
The one slight exception is vehicle crime which has increased from 362 offences (the 
combined figure for both theft of and theft from motor vehicle offences) in April-August 2018 
to 417 offences in the same period this year. Motor vehicle offences are generally more 
likely to be formally reported to Police than some crimes due to insurance policy 
requirements and therefore, data is generally reliable.  However, maintaining some 
perspective is important - 417 offences translates to approximately 80 offences per month 
across Gravesham as a whole – where we have over 40,000 households, the majority of 
which have at least one vehicle.

2.3 Violent crime

2.3.1 In the time periods considered, violent crime (comprised of violence against the person, 
sexual and robbery offences) has reduced by 7.3% or 190 fewer crimes from 2,610 to 
2,420 offences.  Whilst violent crime stills accounts for the greatest proportion of total crime 
(45.0%), it is important to note that only 23.8% of violent crimes involved any injury – the 
vast majority of which are very minor indeed.  In terms of ‘most serious violence’, there 
were 51 offences recorded over the 5 months April-August 2019 – just over 2% of all violent 
crime and approximately 2 incidents per week.

2.4 Domestic abuse

2.4.1 The number of domestic abuse crimes and serious incidents recorded across the County 
has continued to rise.  The increase seen in Gravesham in the timeframes considered is 
slightly below the Kent average however, the rate of offences per 1,000 population remains 
amongst the highest in the County. 

2.4.2 It should be noted that these increases will have been affected by several factors: firstly, 
the broadening of the definition of domestic abuse and the recording of historical offences; 
secondly, the national and international focus on domestic and sexual abuse together with 
a wide-scale public campaign to encourage victims to come forward; and finally, the 
availability of Central Government funding that has been used locally to help identify and fill 
gaps in service provision to reach more victims and better tailor assistance provided to 
meet victims’ needs.

Page 40



3

Total Crime by Offence Category 
Gravesham – Apr-Aug 2018 and Apr-Aug 2019

Offence category Apr-Aug 18 Apr-Aug 19 No. change
% 

change
Violence against the person 2,377 2,199 -178 -7.5

- Homicide 1 0 -1 -100.0
- Death/SI (unlawful driving) 0 2 2 n/a
- Violence with injury 655 577 -78 -11.9
- Violence without injury 1,053 1,070 17 1.6
- Stalking and harassment 668 550 -118 -17.7

Most serious violence 38 51 13 34.2
Sexual offences 158 164 6 3.8

- Rape 50 54 4 8.0
- Other sexual offences 108 110 2 1.8

Robbery 75 57 -18 -24.0
Violent crime 2,610 2,420 -190 -7.3
Burglary – residential 225 217 -8 -3.5
Burglary – business and community 69 67 -2 -2.9
Vehicle crime 362 417 55 15.2

- Theft of motor vehicle 152 186 34 22.4
- Theft from motor vehicle 210 231 21 10.0

Vehicle interference (VI) 80 85 5 6.2
Theft and handling stolen goods 800 757 -43 -5.4

- Shoplifting 202 235 33 16.3
- Theft of pedal cycle 44 26 -18 -40.9
- Other theft 554 496 -58 -10.5

Criminal damage 721 675 -46 -6.4
- Arson 23 25 2 8.7
- Criminal damage 698 650 -48 -6.9

Victim-Based Crime 4,867 4,638 -229 -4.7
Drug offences 87 93 6 6.9

- Trafficking 32 40 8 25.0
- Possession 55 53 -2 -3.6

Possession – weapons 50 39 -11 -22.0
Public order offences 735 440 -295 -40.1
Other crimes 176 160 -16 -9.0
Crimes Against Society 1,048 732 -316 -30.1
Total Crime 5,915 5,370 -545 -9.2

 
Domestic Abuse Crimes and SIs
Apr-Aug 2018 and Apr-Aug 2019

Area
Apr-Aug

18
Apr-Aug

19
%

change
Per 1,000 

popn.
Ashford 1,225 1,429 16.6 11.0
Canterbury 1,593 1,644 3.2 10.0
Dartford 1,335 1,421 6.4 12.9
Dover 1,350 1,415 4.8 12.1
Gravesham 1,508 1,548 2.6 14.5
Maidstone 1,801 1,861 3.3 10.9
Medway 4,194 4,297 2.4 15.5
Sevenoaks 928 946 1.9 7.9
Shepway 1,353 1,453 7.4 12.9
Swale 1,984 2,088 5.2 14.0
Thanet 2,345 2,679 14.2 18.9
Tonbridge and Malling 1,078 1,270 17.8 9.7
Tunbridge Wells 971 1,051 8.2 8.9
Kent 21,665 23,102 6.6 12.5

Page 41



4

3. Kent Police recorded Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents (ASB)

3.1 The most recent Police recorded data for ASB suggests that we have been seeing a slight 
increase in incidents (both locally and across the County) between April-August 2019 
compared to the same period last year.  However, this needs to be considered in the light 
of a longer-term steady decline in ASB over recent years.

Police recorded ASB incidents Apr-Aug each year
0

500

1000

1500

2000
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

3.2 As is reflected in the table below, increases in ASB incidents have been seen in almost 
every part of the County and the increase in Gravesham is on a par with the Kent average.  
In terms of rates per 1,000 population, the rate of 11.3 incidents is higher than average 
however, considerable partnership activity takes place locally to encourage the reporting of 
ASB and past surveys have indicated good levels of public confidence and satisfaction in 
the way that the Police and the Council handle complaints of ASB.  This may contribute 
(even if only slightly) to a higher reporting rate.

Kent Police recorded ASB Incidents – Districts and Medway
Apr-Aug 2018 and Apr-Aug 2019

Area
Apr-Aug

18
Apr-Aug

19
No. 

change
% 

change

Per 
1,000 
popn.

Ashford 745 846 101 13.5 6.5
Canterbury 1,229 1,366 137 11.1 8.3
Dartford 802 968 166 20.7 8.8
Dover 1,013 1,005 -8 -0.8 8.6
Gravesham 1,055 1,200 145 13.7 11.3
Maidstone 1,250 1,632 382 30.6 9.6
Medway 2,715 2,782 67 2.5 10.0
Sevenoaks 673 749 76 11.3 6.2
Shepway 824 1,056 232 28.1 9.4
Swale 1,315 1,463 148 11.2 9.8
Thanet 1,821 2,018 197 10.8 14.2
Tonbridge and Malling 662 869 207 31.3 6.6
Tunbridge Wells 608 734 126 20.7 6.2
Kent 14,712 16,688 1,976 13.4 9.0

4. Key work undertaken April-August 2019 in addressing Community Safety Priorities

4.1 Violent crime including Domestic Abuse

4.1.1 Altogether Safer – Reducing Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Project
The Altogether Safer Project has been funded by the Home Office, having been awarded c. 
£248,000 over three years (including additional funding awarded in 2018-19) from the 
VAWG Transformation Fund.  The Project is due to end in March 2020 and has continued 

Page 42



5

to fill gaps in service provision for victims of domestic abuse; carry out preventative work 
with boys and young men through the Choose Respect Programme; and, raise awareness 
and encourage reporting by victims from BAME backgrounds.  The Project is a joint venture 
between Gravesham Borough Council, Kent Police, Choices Domestic Abuse Services, 
Rethink Mental Illness, Kent Equality Cohesion Council (KECC) and Dartford Borough 
Council 

Key components of the Project are:

Provision of an Out of Hours (OOHs)/Weekend Police-Station-based IDVA Service – 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) have been introduced at North Kent 
Police Station since late 2017 for 12 hours per week.  The intention is to provide victims 
with expert support and advice at the right time, reducing the risk of repeat victimisation and 
prosecution withdrawals.  Most recent data for the period April-September 2019 is being 
collated at the time of writing for mid-year progress returns to the Home Office, however, it 
is still be useful to provide some details of victims supported since commencement of the 
service to end of March 2019.  The OOHs IDVAs have supported 232 adult victims during 
that time who between them had 306 children who would have potentially witnessed or 
experienced some of the consequences of domestic abuse in the home.  These are all 
families who could easily have fallen through the net without the OOH IDVA intervention.

Hours of operation have been tested on different days/times.  Demand has been found to 
be high between 12:00noon and 18:00 hours, which has linked well with Police mid-late 
shift patterns allowing for more flexibility and positive forward-planning.

Examples of support provided to victims include:

 coordinated activity between Police and IDVAs, for e.g. an initial assessment by Police 
had determined that a victim who was being stalked at work rather than at home was not 
at high risk of imminent harm. The IDVA flagged the seriousness of the stalking as it was 
threatening the victim’s ability to work/her job.  Measures were put in place to manage 
risks working with the Police and the victim’s employer. The victim was subsequently 
supported through the commissioned high risk service for the Dartford area;

 introducing a new scheme enabling IDVAs to provide mobile phones to victims at the 
point of crisis;  

 carrying out practical security improvements to enable victims to remain in their homes.

Numerous detailed case studies have been collated throughout delivery of the 
service and can be provided on request from the Community Safety Unit.

Kent Police have also provided an analytical report on the impact of the Out of Hours IDVA 
Service from the police perspective.  Between 1 April-31 December 2018, 4,636 DA crimes 
were reported to Kent Police across Dartford and Gravesham.  In respect of 1,331 crimes, 
the victim was supportive of police action and prosecution.  This is a considerably greater 
number than for the same period the previous year when 921 crimes recorded concluded 
with the victim supporting a prosecution – a notable increase of over 40% in the number of 
perpetrators of domestic abuse being brought to justice.  Whilst data is not available to 
categorically verify that it is the impact of the Out of Hours IDVA Service is behind this 
increase, cases studies provided by Kent Police illustrate its valuable input (these can be 
shared on request from the Community Safety Unit).

Choose Respect Programme
Boys/young men taking part in the Programme are interviewed on completion and feedback 
on changes in behaviour sought from relevant adults e.g. parents, teachers etc. 4 Dartford 

Page 43



6

schools and 8 schools in Gravesham (including a specialist school for Behavioural and 
Special Needs covering both areas and a Pupil Referral Unit), have embraced the 
Programme.  Referrals have also been taken separately from The Gr@nd Project and Early 
Help Teams.  

As with the OOHs IDVA Service, most recent data is currently in the process of being 
collated for submission to the Home Office.  However, between September 2017-end of 
February 2019, 148 assessments had been completed of the target group of 180 
boys/young men benefiting from Choose Respect to date.  86 received sessions on a 1:1 
basis as well as small group work.  

A target of 70% was set against each of the following measures – end assessments 
demonstrating these were exceeded for each indicator with the following results:

 100% were able to identify respect, honesty and empathy as helpful for effective 
communication;

 100% now had the ability to be assertive (i.e. not to bow to peer pressure to behave in a 
particular way);

 100% agreed their aggression had decreased;
 100% were able to identify 3/+ healthy behaviours;
 100% felt their understanding of feelings had increased;
 100% felt able to identify strategies for managing feelings as a result of Choose Respect;
 98% were able to identify relationship skills/factors including self-esteem, assertiveness 

and healthy boundaries;
 92% felt their ability to cope with stressful situations had increased;
 87% were able to identify that abuse occurs in relationships because of power and 

control;
 78% felt feelings of anxiety and worry had decreased.

Choose Respect case studies are available form the Community Safety Unit on 
request.

Improving access to services – BAME communities and hard to reach groups
Awareness-raising, service promotion, peer-led support and initiatives to remove the stigma 
associated with seeking help within certain cultures have all been used to break down 
barriers preventing victims from coming forward.

KECC and Rethink have organised and delivered a range of community engagement 
events, used as opportunities to open discussions about VAWG issues and increase 
awareness of services.  A major initiative has been the delivery of an annual women and 
girls only conference and social event – the latest having just taken place in September 
2019.  The Sadi Awaz Suno (Listen to our Voices) event has been incredibly successful: 
the original target of 150-200 attendees has been totally exceeded with approximately 300 
local women and girls in attendance each time, ranging from grandmothers for whom 
English is their second language to young professionals and newly-arrived brides from the 
Indian sub-continent.

The first conference concentrated on the issues of: honour-based crime and on-line 
grooming; DA and the use of social media; mental health and well-being; dealing with child 
disability; positive female role models; and the promotion of services.  

The 2018 conference focused on the taboo issue of alcohol misuse /dependency, its impact 
on relationships and harm caused by the cultural practice of staying silent.  

This year’s conference considered modern slavery and trafficking, Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM), alcohol misuse and mental health. Interpreters and translators were 

Page 44



7

present throughout to encourage audience participation in discussion.  The conferences 
have received considerable publicity locally, generating debate about these issues.  

This limb of the Project has also seen the creation of several short film clips (the final one 
will be created before the end of March 2020) used to raise awareness of services.  The 
first was written, filmed and edited by KEEC colleagues but importantly, all of it’s cast are 
local women and girls who volunteered their time.  This has been shown at various 
community events and is available as a tool to initiate group discussion.  The second talks 
about the extent of domestic abuse and particularly how it affects BAME communities and 
provides details of support services.  

Links to view the films are given below: 

Ladies Sangeet:  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5t1W62-2svM
Please report!: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ClnJqp00lDE&t=5s

Altogether Safer has been recognised as a good practice model for partnership work to 
tackle VAWG.  At the recommendation of senior Kent Police colleagues the Project is now 
going to be submitted as an entry to the international Tilley Awards 2019.

4.1.2 Step Change Project
A successful bid prepared by Gravesham CSU and submitted to the MHCLG’s Domestic 
Abuse Services Fund was awarded £137,880 to deliver the Step Change Project.  This new 
initiative, being delivered by Choices Domestic Abuse Services provides specialist DA 
workers to give intensive, ‘wrap-around-the family’ support to victims with complex needs 
and victims from hard to reach groups across Dartford and Gravesham.  Victims’ needs are 
assessed alongside those of any children/other family members and that will give the victim 
greater control.  The service also provides a respite bed space that can be used by a 
victim/family temporarily (where they are not victims that would normally access refuge 
accommodation).  Mid-year reporting processes will shortly be collecting data on the 
numbers of individuals/families supported this year together with case studies that the CSU 
will be able to share with partner agencies/Members on request.  

4.1.3 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
Earlier this year, the Council’s Modern Slavery and Trafficking Statement was updated and 
published on its website.  Training was also delivered to 60 frontline Council and partner 
agency staff by national charity, Stop the Traffik in July as part of this year’s activity to raise 
awareness and enable staff to spot signs of modern slavery/trafficking early on.

4.2 Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) and Environmental Crime

4.2.1 Draft ASB Strategy 2019-2023
In recognition of the significant impact that persistent ASB can have on the quality of life of 
individuals and their families as well as on neighbourhoods and the demands it places on a 
range of public services, an ASB Strategy has just been prepared by the CSU.  The draft 
Strategy aims to provide a new more coordinated and cross-departmental approach to 
addressing reports of ASB received by the Council and is closely aligned to the objectives 
identified in the Council’s new Corporate Plan.  

An ASB Strategy Delivery Group will be established to bring together the different service 
areas across the Council with the aim of ensuring there is a ‘tied-up’ and collaborative 
approach to addressing ASB.  This aims to improve communication between 
departments/teams that may all be dealing with a particular case to ensure that we achieve 
the best possible outcomes for those affected by the ASB.  The Strategy Delivery Group 
will be creating an Action Plan to ensure that the Strategy is fully implemented and regular 
reports on progress will be provided to both the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Page 45

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5t1W62-2svM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ClnJqp00lDE&t=5s


8

and the Dartford and Gravesham CSP.  It is anticipated that the Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee may also wish to receive an update as this work is developed.

The new Strategy is based on a structured approach that includes the following strands:

4.2.2 Safer Place Officer Team Activity
The Safer Place Officers have continued to provide a uniformed presence in Gravesend 
town centre, educating and advising members of the public and local businesses in respect 
of issues such as littering and the responsible disposal of trade waste.  Between 1 April-25 
September 2019, the Officers have issued 28 fines for littering (2 of which are now being 
processed by Legal Services for non-payment); assisted homeless people and rough 
sleepers by signposting them to support services and taken part in multi-agency days of 
action in the town alongside Kent Police and other partner agency colleagues.

The Officers also carry out Street Checks twice weekly in key locations in the town centre 
reporting any issues e.g. graffiti, abandoned vehicles, flytipping etc. to appropriate 
departments in order that they can be resolved as quickly as possible.  They report issues 
directly using smartphones and a dedicated App.  

The CSU is currently in the process of recruiting two further Safer Place Officers who will 
have a vehicle to be able to carry out the same duties in other areas outside the town 
centre coming to our attention.

In June 2019, the Officers carried out a day of activity in the town centre, focusing on 
educating members of the public against littering, particularly targeting smokers (as these 
have been the most prevalent group to be issued with fines), promoting the use of 
appropriate bins, raising awareness of the risk of the £150.00 fine and distributing Stubbi 
pouches.  

Safer Place Officers also assist with ensuring that unauthorised camping in tents does not 
result in ASB.  A typical example would be action taken following reports of a tented 
community on Windmill Hill this summer.  The Officers engaged with the campers on the 
same day the report was received, served Notice and then referred the individuals to 
Housing Needs who were able to provide temporary accommodation.

4.2.3 Rough Sleeper Initiative
ASB can be linked (and inadvertently be caused) as a result of people sleeping rough. Joint 
work has been taking place led by Housing Services’ Homelessness Outreach Coordinator 

Page 46



9

but supported by the CSU and partner agencies including Porchlight, Sanctuary, Change, 
Grow, Live (CGL).   This multi-agency group meets fortnightly to monitor which 
interventions have been utilised with rough sleepers who have had little engagement with 
agencies and whether they have been effective. Information is shared to try to establish 
what has contributed to individuals finding themselves homeless and identify support 
services that may be able to assist them.   When the Group first began meeting as a pilot, 7 
individuals were identified as long-term rough sleeping and were provided with short-term 
accommodation whilst housing plans were set up (including arrangements for Benefit 
payments) and arrangements were also made for those requiring treatment from drug and 
alcohol services to attend sessions with them.  6 of the 7 individuals supported were 
consequently housed either within Gravesham or out of Borough.

In addition, the group has now identified a further 6 people with whom agencies are working 
with a view to providing them with temporary accommodation if appropriate.

4.2.4 Tackling Seasonal ASB
It is generally acknowledged that there are certain times of the year when issues of ASB 
become more prevalent e.g. during summer months/lighter evenings, Halloween/Bonfire 
Night, the lead up to Christmas and New Year.  In the town centre, the Riverside Leisure 
Area (Fort Gardens and the Promenade) has historically recorded an increase in ASB 
reports in the summer period – generally linked to young people and adults using the park 
areas late into the night and causing a disturbance to neighbouring residents and remaining 
or entering the area after gates have been locked.  In anticipation of this, the CSU liaised 
with KCC Youth Outreach Team and workers were able to visit the Riverside Leisure Area 
on Tuesday evenings, engaging with groups playing football and encouraging them to use 
the football pitch at Ordnance Road instead.  The Gr@nd workers also delivered a Kick 
Racism Out of Football Project and used the Ordnance Road site for training sessions 
when possible.

Reports of drug-related ASB and concern over more serious misbehavior has been 
addressed by the use of security staff in August-September between 6.00pm and 10.00pm 
daily.  Security officers have been working closely with Kent Police colleagues (both CSU 
officers and the Community Policing Team) and they have been returning daily reports that 
have provided Police with useful intelligence.

The CSU’s Safer Place Officers routinely also give attention to specific locations that are 
known to experience seasonal higher levels of ASB and that often see an increase in 
issues related to e.g. littering, and have taken enforcement action when appropriate.

4.3 Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-Offending

4.3.1 CCTV Service
CCTV acts as a major deterrent to those who might otherwise engage in criminal or anti-
social behaviour in addition to providing reassurance to local people and strengthening 
evidence allowing authorities to take action against perpetrators.  The CSU completed a full 
review of all of Gravesham’s permanent CCTV stock in May 2019 and the upgrading of key 
town centre cameras has now been carried out.  A programme of work was also developed 
that has included the decommissioning of certain cameras that are at the end of their life/no 
longer justified and the installation of 4 new permanent cameras in the Riverside Leisure 
Area that will be completed this autumn.  

The CSU has now also added 3 state of the art mobile cameras with ANPR capacity to its 
temporary camera stock (utilising external funding sought from the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office through the Crime Reduction Fund made available to District 
CSUs).  These cameras will be particularly useful in supporting multi-agency activity to 
address organised criminal activity (especially activity that is drug-related and that involves 

Page 47



10

vehicles) and to help gather evidence to take action against those involved in serious 
environmental crime e.g. fly-tipping.  New signage for all of the Council’s public space 
CCTV has also been ordered and this will be installed shortly, ensuring that our systems 
are fully compliant with the regulations specified by the Surveillance Commissioner.

4.3.2 Multi-agency Organised Crime Group (OCG) Activity
Joint working between all the members of Gravesham’s Organised Crime Group (OCG) 
has continued to be very effective.  The Group meets on a monthly basis and there have 
been some positive outcomes:

 Principal member of one of our first OCGs is now serving a lengthy prison sentence 
(smuggling of people and importing/trading in high-end vehicles);

 Considerable disruption caused to a further OCG and linked multi-agency activity has 
led to considerable work involving Licensing, HMRC, Police and Trading Standards 
resulting in the seizing of significant quantities of illegal tobacco.  Information-sharing 
took place over a number of months that made a positive contribution to coordinated 
activity that took place targeting particular locations and premises in Gravesend and 
Northfleet in May this year.  Approximately 60,000 illegal cigarettes were seized worth 
an estimated £22,500 in duty and VAT evaded.  Further activity in July this year 
resulted in 6 arrests being made, 3 individuals involved in supplying/selling illegal 
cigarettes being from Gravesend and receiving custodial sentences.

 Investigations into one suspected OCG did find a number of people believed to be 
being used for labour exploitation.  Although adults in the group did not want action to 
be taken, a 16-year-old Bulgarian male was taken to a safe house.

4.4 Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities
4.4.1 Gravesham Vulnerability Panel – this is the key multi-agency vehicle (Kent Police-led) that 

works to safeguard identified vulnerable adults (excluding homeless individuals who are 
supported through the Rough Sleeper Initiative Group mentioned above).  The Panel has 
an extensive membership from a range of statutory and voluntary sector agencies and is 
attended by representatives across Council Departments.  Referrals of adults with a variety 
of complex needs who are not engaging effectively with service providers are made to the 
Panel who will then consider appropriate support and interventions for them.  The Panel 
meets on a monthly basis and has successfully dealt with a number of cases (6 cases were 
able to be closed at the last meeting in September), 2 new referrals has been received and 
1 case continues to be monitored.

4.4.2 Altogether Stronger Project - Gravesham CSU submitted a successful bid to the Migration 
Fund for c. £149,000 over 2018-19 and 2019-20 that has 3 key strands described below. 

(NB. Very late announcements of successful bids and release of funding have meant the 
project’s commencement was delayed to earlier this year).

 
 Youth-specific activity to help young people integrate across communities, reduce   

crime/ASB and safeguard them from harm (working very closely with The Gr@nd Project 
in Gravesend town centre and enabling the latter’s premises to be open on Friday/ 
Saturday night).  The Gr@nd is one service that has actively engaged with young 
migrants, some who are not attending mainstream education/are NEET, who use the 
Project’s drop-in services, attend Centre-run activities or use the premises café to 
socialise. Premises are normally closed on Friday/Saturday evenings – key nights when 
young people (migrants and resident youth) without financial resources to go elsewhere, 
might gather in the town centre.  This had at times resulted in reports of ASB, had a 
negative impact on businesses and public perceptions of safety and placed pressures on 
Police and Council resources.  Locations being used to gather were also identified as 
hotspots for criminal activity and could present a safeguarding concern.  Since The 
Gr@nd has begun opening its doors on a Friday evening between 7.00pm and 10.00pm, 

Page 48



11

approximately 25-30 young people have been regularly attending each week.  The 
majority of attendees (approximately 75%) are male and culturally they are a diverse 
group – chiefly Slovakian, Bulgarian and British.  They have been engaging well in the 
activities available that include; music, recording, playing keyboard/guitar and freestyle 
rapping; cooking meals and eating together; playing team games and craft activities.  
Themed, quiz and movie nights are also being planned.  The Gr@nd workers have 
reported that there has been an improvement in behaviour generally and an appreciation 
of what the sessions provide.  Those attending are integrating well, recognising that they 
actually have much in common and cultural barriers are being broken down.

 Strengthening cohesion through public cross-community events
       The aim is to run 6 International Food and Music Events to encourage participation 

across cultural backgrounds, particularly drawing in residents from EU8 countries as well 
as new migrants from Nigerian and Afro-Caribbean backgrounds.  Focusing on food and 
music (rather than the traditional approach of celebrating e.g. different cultural/religious 
festivals) events should lead to broader participation from the wider community and 
support integration by celebrating the interests people have in common in a social 
environment.  Events will be supported by multi-agency partners to develop confidence 
in authorities and service providers to encourage greater engagement and accessing of 
services generally.  A part-time Altogether Stronger Project Worker has been recruited 
and is coordinating these events.  A first event - an African Caribbean Experience – is 
taking place on Saturday 5 October, 12pm – 5pm, Gravesham Borough Market. The 
event aims to break down barriers and promote community cohesion and will have 
healthy/easy cooking demonstrations, free tasters, free recipe booklets, music, an 
exhibition, dance workshop and more on offer. 

 Further development of No Space for Hate Campaign and Training
Part of the Altogether Stronger Project includes further developing promotional/marketing 
materials to be used in engagement events well as through other community-based 
activity to address hate crime.  We will also be arranging training sessions for key staff 
on recognising extremism/extremist behaviour which presents itself as hate crime and 
how to signpost and better support victims that may report to the Council.

4.4.3    Origins Atlas Project – Understanding our Communities and Promoting Cohesion 
Dartford and Gravesham Councils joined forces with LB of Havering who agreed to be the 
Lead Authority in a successful joint bid to MHCLG’s Migration Fund to give our areas 
access to the Origins Atlas software and analysis system to develop our intelligence in 
respect of migration and cohesion.  Origins Atlas overlays a variety of demographic 
information with other data to help identify population change (based on surnames) and 
geographical areas where change is more prevalent or where there is a ‘clustering’ people 
from certain backgrounds.  This will help us to better understand the diversity of our 
population and help us to more effectively plan and target service provision and identify 
need.  An initial presentation of the findings of the first analysis of local data was provided 
to a cross-departmental officer group in August and a further report is anticipated in late 
October/early November.

5. Conclusion

5.1 The above is not an exhaustive list of all Community Safety activity over the last 6 months 
but hopefully provides an overview of some of the most significant work that has been 
undertaken and that continues to be developed.  The second half of the year will have a 
strong focus on ASB and putting in place measures to ensure that the implementation of 
the new ASB Strategy is realised will be a flagship project locally with the potential to 
establish good practice that will be capable of being replicated by CSP partners across their 
own agencies.

Page 49



12

5.2 Other areas that will be central to the work of the CSU include implementing exit strategies 
for several projects e.g. Altogether Safer – Reducing VAWG for which external funding 
comes to an end in March 2020 and identifying opportunities through which some of this 
work can be sustained and strengthening the Council’s approach to Safeguarding. 

Page 50



13

APPENDIX 1

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB (Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  
Finance and 
Value for 
Money

None.

Risk 
assessment

Failure to work effectively in partnership help tackle crime and ASB will reduce 
public confidence in the Local Authority’s ability to support individuals and 
communities and allow negative perceptions of the Borough to develop.  
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice?  N/a

Data 
Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different 
groups in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – all communities will 
benefit from partnership activity to reduce crime and ASB.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Strategy makes a direct contribution to addressing a significant number of 
the commitments contained within the new Corporate Plan 2019-23.

Crime and 
Disorder

s.17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – as mentioned above.  

Digital/website 
website 
implications

None.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies reflected in the Dartford and Gravesham CSP’s 
Community Safety Strategy.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification:
Public
Key Decision:
No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Date: 10 October 2019

Reporting Officer: Strategic Manager, Community Safety Unit

Subject: Future Topics for Review

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide the Committee with details of potential future topics for review that have been proposed 
by the Committee’s membership.

Recommendations
Members are asked to:

a) Identify and prioritise future topics for review by the Committee from those proposed and  
from any other topics that may come to light during the course of the meeting or as a result 
of other items on the Agenda.

1. Background 

1.1 Officers recently met with the Chair of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee and it 
was agreed that members of the Committee would be asked to identify community safety 
topics that they felt should be reviewed at future meetings (there are meetings scheduled 
for 21 January and 17 March 2020).

1.2 A template/pro forma was circulated by the Community Safety Unit (CSU) in early August 
together with a copy of the Dartford and Gravesham CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 
‘Plan on a Page’ to provide a brief outline of the community safety matters on which 
Partnership activity is currently focused.

1.3 The following topics have been proposed by Members (where suggestions for format, 
consultation and resources have been put forward, these are also listed below):

1. Town Centre Crime
Rationale and scope – proposed as town centre Wards have the highest levels of 
recorded crime.  The particular geographical area around the junction of King Street, 
Stone Street, High Street and Chase Square are specifically identified.
Outcome – for consideration to be given to increasing Police presence and to the 
review of late night refreshment licences as appropriate.

2. Illegal handling and use of drugs/alcohol in public places
Rationale and scope – impact of substance misuse on health and levels of crime, 
burdens placed on services.  Geographical area – to consider the issue across the 
Borough as a whole with a focus on reducing associated crime and ASB.
Outcome – enforcement/other activity to achieve reductions in crime and ASB.
Format/Consultation – regular patrols by PCSOs; consultation with Police and partner 

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



2

agencies; engagement – through the use of discussion groups.
Resources – review to be completed as a multi-agency exercise (Police, Council and 
other agencies/groups as appropriate).

3. Knife and violent youth crime
Rationale and scope – issue of national concern and the subject of work being carried 
out locally (e.g. KCC led Supporting Families Against Youth Crime Fund Initiative).  
Geographical area – Borough as a whole.
Outcome – understanding of what is being delivered, how agencies are working 
together and impact that it is having. 

4. Rural and semi-rural areas
Rationale and scope – rural/semi-rural areas residents’ have expressed concerns 
regarding certain crimes e.g. residential burglaries and ASB.  Geographical area – 
rural/semi-rural areas and particularly Vigo and South Meopham.
A review is proposed of efforts being made to tackle these issues through Partnership 
activity.

5. Drug-related issues
Rationale and scope – need to review activity particularly in relation to youth/young 
people’s behaviour that is drug-related.  Geographical area – Borough-wide.
Outcome – local campaign, particularly in conjunction with local schools.

Page 54



3

APPENDIX 1

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee has a responsibility under s.19 and 

20 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 to review the work of partner agencies 
delivered through the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money

None.

Risk 
assessment

Failure to work effectively in partnership help tackle crime and ASB will reduce 
public confidence in the Local Authority’s ability to support individuals and 
communities and allow negative perceptions of the Borough to develop.  
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? No.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice?  N/a

Data 
Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different 
groups in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – all communities will 
benefit from partnership activity to reduce crime and ASB.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Strategy makes a direct contribution to addressing a significant number of 
the commitments contained within the new Corporate Plan 2019-23.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Committee is able to identify those issues of crime and disorder that are 
being addressed through the CSP that it wishes to scrutinise/review.

Digital/website 
website 
implications

None.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies and is reflected in the CSP’s Community Safety 
Strategy.

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the 
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 12 June 
2019. 
 
PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr J Gideon, Cllr F Gooch, Ms S Hamilton, Cllr MJ Holloway, OBE, Cllr S Mochrie-
Cox, Cllr M Rhodes and Mrs E Bolton 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper 
(PCC's Chief Executive) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer) 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr J Cook (Scrutiny Research Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
312. Election of Chair  
(Item 2) 
 
1. Cllr Gooch nominated Mr Hill as Chair of the Panel, seconded by Cllr Rhodes.  

No other nominations were made. 
 
RESOLVED that Mr Hill be elected as Chair. 
 
313. Election of Vice-Chair  
(Item 3) 
 
1. Mr Hill nominated Mr Sandher as Vice-chair of the Panel, seconded by Cllr 

Mochrie-Cox.  No other nominations were made. 
 
RESOLVED that Mr Sandher be elected as Vice-chair. 
 
314. Membership  
(Item 4) 
 
1. Mr Hill advised the Committee that Cllr J Hollingsbee had been appointed to the 

Panel after the agenda was published and he welcomed her. 
 
RESOLVED that the Membership changes outlined in the agenda pack and those 
clarified at the meeting be noted. 
 
315. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 6 February 2019  
(Item 7) 
 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2019 were a correct 
record and that they be signed by the Chair. 
 

Page 57 Agenda Item 9



 

2 

316. PCC's Annual Report 2018/19  
(Item A1) 
 
1. The Commissioner congratulated the Chair and Vice-chair on their re-election to 

the Panel before providing an introduction and overview of his annual report.  He 
drew the Panel’s attention to the inclusion, for a second year, of data on deaths 
and serious incidents in police custody which had been included in the interests 
of full transparency and to support the recommendations of Dame Elish 
Angiolini’s review. 
 

2. The Commissioner thanked his team at the OPCC, Neil Wickens in particular, for 
their hard work on the Annual Report.  He also highlighted the Kent Police 
Finance Team, and in particular Sonia Virdee, for their excellent ongoing work, 
some of which had been recognised nationally and also on completion of the 
draft Statement of Accounts.   
 

3. The Commissioner provided an overview of the key points from the report, 
including;  

 The Police and Crime Plan had been updated to include keeping roads 
safe and protecting vulnerable road users. 

 The largest recruitment drive in Kent Police’s history had been 
undertaken. 

 Additional resources had to be funded via a council tax increase because 
funding was not available from central government. 

 Additional staff recruited to the Force Control Room (FCR) which had 
improved 101 and 999 call-handling. 

 Implementation of the Chief’s Crime Squad to provide county wide 
proactive and preventative investigative capability and capacity. 

 Restorative Justice programme had been in place with the same provider 
for a full year, allowing more victims and offenders to come together in a 
positive way to discuss how to repair the harm. 

 Further investment in technology via the Athena system which had 
replaced Genesis in Kent and allowed easier data sharing between 
Forces. 

 Investment in mobile technology had improved efficiency for frontline 
officers. 

 The governance processes for holding the Chief Constable to account had 
been updated, including a focus on case studies and consideration of 
impact of crime and disorder rather than just statistics. 

 
4. The Chair thanked the Commissioner for the report and the verbal update 

before inviting questions from the Panel. 
 
The Panel meeting was adjourned at 10:16 due to disruption by members of the 
public. 
 
Meeting reconvened at 11:20 
 

5. Responding to questions regarding the accessibility of the Force, the 
Commissioner explained that accessibility was tested via public engagement, 
community and local government meetings.  He advised that where this 
engagement was taking place, he was satisfied that the local police were 

Page 58



 

3 

working to make themselves accessible.  The Commissioner also highlighted 
that there were now multiple channels for reporting crimes and incidents to 
Kent Police and that he remained committed to making best use of the Police 
estate and maintaining public Front Counters services in police stations and 
locations where they already exist. 
 

6. In answer to a question on how the Chief Constable was held to account 
regarding local crime and ASB, the Commissioner explained that a specific 
priority existed for these issues and that there was a standing item on his 
Performance & Delivery Board agenda, consideration of which included the 
Chief Constable providing the latest figures and relevant updates.  The 
Commissioner also advised that as part of his weekly Monday morning 
meeting with the Chief Constable, the Assistant Chief Constable for Local 
Policing provided reports to the Commissioner on important local issues 
around the county.  He advised that there had been a 13% reduction in ASB 
but that he knew ASB was also reported directly to councils, so he and Kent 
Police worked with them on these issues where possible. 
 

7. In response to a question about deployment of the additional Officer resource 
provided by the recruitment drive and the need for increased police visibility as 
soon as possible, the Commissioner advised that the last of the recently 
recruited 200 Officers had now finished their training and would be out serving 
as warranted officers in local communities.  Linked to this year’s precept 
increase, a further 180 Officers were now being recruited and trained.  In 
terms of deployment, the Commissioner reminded the Panel that this was a 
decision for the Chief Constable, subject to the priorities in the Police and 
Crime Plan.  The Commissioner highlighted an increase in the size of the rural 
policing team, the roads policing team, the establishment of the Chief 
Constable’s Crime Squad and introduction of Sexual Offence Liaison Officers 
dedicated to working with victims of sexual violence. He said that overall, of 
the 200 Officers recruited last year, just over half had gone into visible, 
accessible, community policing roles and the other half into investigative roles. 
He added that of the 180 this year, half again would be going into local 
policing roles, including an extra 38 Officers for town centre policing, and the 
other half into investigation roles.   
 

8. Responding to a question regarding the Medway Taskforce, the Commissioner 
explained that this would mirror the work of the Margate Taskforce and would 
be resourced with one Sergeant and six Constables.  He also confirmed that 
relevant expertise had been secured to assist in running the Taskforce. 
 

9. A Member commented that the report was very comprehensive and that it 
showed good progress had been made over the last year, which was positive.  
The Member particularly highlighted the successful recruitment drive as a 
positive indication that Kent Police was an organisation people wanted to work 
for. 
 

10. The Commissioner thanked the Panel for the positive comments but advised 
that the hard work of policing was done by the staff and officers on the ground 
and that he was always keen to ensure they received the thanks they 
deserved for delivering a good service. 
 

Page 59



 

4 

11. Responding to a question about Compass House and the victim support 
arrangements, the Commissioner explained that the Compass Points were not 
fixed points around the county but instead operated like mobile surgeries. 
 

12. In response to a question regarding the Council Tax increase, the 
Commissioner advised the Panel that he was pleased the increase had been 
generally supported and the public could see something tangible from it – 
extra officers.  He said that whilst Commissioners had been given more 
flexibility around council tax, it hadn’t impacted the general grant settlement 
and it was expected that it wouldn’t in the future.    The Commissioner hoped 
that the comprehensive spending review would, when it took place, give a 
clearer picture and take into account the challenges facing policing.  He also 
reminded Members that Kent Police received the 7th lowest funding per head 
of population and had the 6th lowest council tax, but was the best performing 
Force in the country.   
 

13. Members commented positively on the improvements made in call-handling, 
confirming that concerns about difficulties in contacting the police were no 
longer raised to them as issues by the public.  The Commissioner confirmed 
that he had regular meetings with the Chief Constable to monitor the issue and 
that recent briefings on this had shown that call grading processes were still 
managed appropriately, with High Grade calls being attended as soon as 
possible while emergency calls were treated as urgent.  The Commissioner 
highlighted that it had been shown at his Performance & Delivery Board that 
Kent Police were still attending over 80% of residential burglaries, with every 
victim visited by a PCSO even though many other forces did not send people 
to attend such crimes. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
317. HMICFRS - PEEL Assessment  
(Item B1) 
 
1. The Commissioner introduced the report, commenting that the excellent results 

of the assessment were achieved due to a huge amount of hard work by Kent 
Police Officers and Staff.  He commented that the assessment was rigorous and 
involved extensive data review and interviews with Officers.  The Commissioner 
noted the good work done by his predecessor, Ann Barnes in terms of 
challenging crime data integrity which now helped confirm a truer picture of the 
situation in Kent.  He also highlighted the improving picture Kent Police had 
achieved over recent years in terms of HMICFRS assessments.   
 

2. Kent Police had now been rated Outstanding in Efficiency, which included 
planning and understanding of demand, resources and finances, and 
Outstanding in Legitimacy.  The Commissioner highlighted that Kent was the 
only Force to maintain this rating for four consecutive years.  He also noted that 
Kent had been rated as Good for Effectiveness and advised that he was keen to 
see this move up to Outstanding. 
 

3. The Commissioner commented that HMICFRS inspections were immensely 
valuable as they provided good external scrutiny and an unbiased perspective.  
He noted that while this latest inspection evidenced that Kent was the best Force 

Page 60



 

5 

in England and Wales, there was still room for improvement and he reassured 
the Panel that he would be working with the Chief Constable to make this 
happen. 
 

4. The Commissioner advised the Panel that HMICFRS also conduct thematic 
inspections, with recent examples being Stalking & Harrassment and Fraud, and 
that he would bring papers to future meetings as appropriate.  The 
Commissioner also explained that Kent Police had used the Stalking and 
Harassment thematic inspection, which had been commissioned by the PCC for 
Sussex, to conduct its own internal review.  As a result of this, Kent was now 
looking at updating training arrangements and the Commissioner was 
considering commissioning a stalking and harassment support service for 
victims.   
 

5. The Commissioner also outlined his concerns around how fraud was managed 
nationally.  He emphasised that this was not due to failings on the part of 
individual Officers but the problem was rather that the national policing response 
was not appropriate and often let victims down because of the established 
processes and lack of co-ordination.  He highlighted that Kent did have a 
dedicated fraud team, a cybercrime team and an economic crime team.  The 
Commissioner explained that HMICFRS had recently inspected ten Forces in 
relation to fraud, not including Kent Police, and had developed a number of 
recommendations including; better national co-ordination, better resourcing for 
Action Fraud and the recruitment of an additional 600 investigators.  There was 
also an action for Chief Constables to ensure that there were sufficient resources 
and a local strategy for dealing with fraud and the Commissioner reassured the 
Panel that the Chief Constable had confirmed this was in place in Kent. 
 

6. The Chair congratulated the Commissioner and Kent Police on the excellent 
PEEL Assessment result.  Members supported the Chair’s positive comments. 
 

7. Responding to a question regarding an ICT problem noted in the report, the 
Commissioner explained that it related to the implementation of the Athena 
system and reassured the Panel that most issues had now been resolved.   
 

8. In response to a question relating to better joint working and information sharing 
between councils and Kent Police, the Commissioner confirmed that local 
Community Safety Units were a fundamental part of the process, enabling 
reports to either police or council to be picked up and managed appropriately.  
He also highlighted that Kent Police did work with third party reporting services. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
318. Update on PCC's expenditure to support the Police and Crime Plan  
(Item B2) 
 
1. The Commissioner introduced the report, outlining the different items that had 

been selected for consideration.  Of the three items requested by Panel Officers, 
the first related to a positive youth engagement project involving music and 
positive interaction with the Police, the second supported school engagement 
involving discussion of the consequences of gang involvement and criminal 
activity and the third item related to investment in a big data exercise as part of 

Page 61



 

6 

developing and progressing the Violence Reduction Challenge (VRC).  The 
Commissioner explained that the VRC was his response to the government’s 
Serious Violence Strategy and had been supported by KCC, and partners from 
across the county.  He said the data exercise involved reviewing crime data 
going back 16 years, which whilst challenging due to Home Office Counting 
Rules changes over the period, had identified victim and offender trends, as well 
as vulnerability factors.  He added that the work provided some of the evidence 
base to support the Medway Taskforce and was being used by Kent Police to 
support its own review of knife crime. 
 

2. The fourth item covered in the report had been identified by the OPCC and 
related to specialist support services for victims of sexual violence.  The key 
change had been moving from a grant and short term funding model involving 
two organisations to the commissioning of a county-wide service via a three year 
contract in order to deliver a better service, provide consistency in provision and 
ensure value for money.   He added that he wanted to highlight this to the Panel 
as it was a good example of positive use of his commissioning budget. 

 
RESOLVED that the update be noted. 
 
319. Mental Health - verbal update  
(Item B3) 
 
1. The Commissioner provided an update on recent activity in this area, both at a 

national level as the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC) 
lead for mental health and also at a local level.  Key points included the following: 

 Participating in the independent review of the Mental Health Act and now 
also the Government’s Advisory Group on how the recommendations 
should be implemented.   

 Working with Kent Police, CCGs, KMPT, SECAmb and other partners to 
provide better support to those in crisis, including putting appropriate 
governance arrangements in place. 

 The Kent Police Mental Health Policing Team had been dealing with 
around 80 crime report investigations each month from mental health units 
across the county. 

 Kent Police s136 detentions had increased by 16% - details were still 
being reviewed to confirm causes and identify patterns. 

 HMICFRS had updated their definition of a mental health incident for the 
Police – ‘Any Police incident thought to relate to someone’s mental health, 
where their vulnerability is at the centre of the incident or where the police 
have had to do something additionally or different because of it.’ 

 £137k being provided via the Mental Health and Policing Fund (MHPF) to 
continue funding wellbeing cafes, early intervention programmes and 
other preventative activities.  This would be the final year of the MHPF. 

 
2. The Commissioner clarified that the ultimate goal was that people experiencing a 

mental health crisis received the right care from the right people at the right time. 
He said the police were not the right people to provide that care but were called 
on as a 24/7 service that would always respond, adding that this was not 
sustainable. 

 
RESOLVED that the update be noted. 

Page 62



 

7 

 
320. Support for increase in Taser trained officers  
(Item C1) 
 
1. Members were supportive of the decision to invest in increased numbers of 

Taser trained officers in the interests of officer safety. 
 

2. The Commissioner advised the Panel that Taser was a very effective tool for 
Policing and reassured the Panel that discharge rates remained low and that the 
threat of Taser continued to be sufficient to achieve compliance in most cases.  
He recognised that it was a serious issue though and confirmed that he would be 
monitoring usage and drew the Panel’s attention to the existence of a Kent 
Police scrutiny panel which also reviewed and monitored this matter. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
321. PCC Complaints Report  
(Item D1) 
 
1. Members commented on whether there was a need to consider further 

communications regarding the role of the Panel and how complaints work should 
be developed. 
 

2. The Chair confirmed this would be considered in the future. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
322. Future work programme  
(Item D2) 
 
1. Following a brief discussion around Community Policing Volunteers and how 

they work in practice, the Commissioner suggested that a paper be brought to a 
future meeting on Citizens in Policing, which would cover the full range of 
volunteers in policing. 

 
RESOLVED that the work programme be noted. 
 
323. Questions submitted by Panel Members  
(Item E1) 
 
In light of the Commissioner’s comments at previous meetings about working with the 
Chief Constable to ensure that the additional officers available from the continuing 
recruitment drive by Kent Police support visible policing, can the Commissioner 
advise whether this will involve Town Centre Police Officers being provided in all 
Districts?     
(Mark Rhodes – Tonbridge & Malling) 
 
1. The Commissioner confirmed that additional Town Beat Officers would be being 

deployed across the county.  He explained that there were eighteen such officers 
in place already and an additional thirty-eight were due to be deployed by March 
2020.  He advised the Panel that the Chief Constable had assured him that the 

Page 63



 

8 

deployment would be based around local crime issues and demand assessment 
but that it would be county-wide. 

 
Can the Commissioner advise the Panel if and how he engages with District Councils 
to consider local policing issues and if the feedback from this engagement is used to 
hold the Chief Constable to account for delivering the police and crime plan?  
(Shane Mochrie-Cox - Gravesham) 
 
2. The Commissioner confirmed that he did engage with District Councils to help 

identify local issues and local trends.  He clarified that he had decided not to 
attend formal or statutory crime and disorder committees at District Level as he 
expected Kent Police to attend these meetings to ensure appropriate local 
engagement and responses.  He felt that his presence at such meetings may 
undermine local Police SMT or distract from the work of the relevant Officers. 
 

3. The Commissioner explained that he regularly engaged with councillors from all 
parties via the Panel, via informal meetings and other methods of contact and 
that any operational issues raised with him were referred to Kent Police as 
appropriate. 
 

4. As part of a supplementary question, Cllr Mochrie-Cox explained that he had 
observed a tension between strategic issues and local operational matters, 
sometimes leading to a gap in provision or appropriate contact.  He asked the 
Commissioner to clarify his view when local police cite lack of resources as a 
challenge but where this view is not supported at a corporate level. 
 

5. The Commissioner confirmed that he would be happy to look into the specific 
circumstances being referred to and would engage further outside of the 
meeting.  He commented that if District Police felt they lacked resources; they 
should flag this to the Chief Constable. 

 
RESOLVED that the Commissioner’s answers to Member questions be noted. 
 
324. Minutes of the Commissioner's Performance & Delivery Board meetings 
held on 12 December 2018 and 20 March 2019  
(Item F1) 
 
RESOLVED that the Performance & Delivery Board minutes be noted. 
 
 

Page 64


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Terms of Reference - Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee
	6 Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-22
	Appendix 2 -  Community Safety Strategy 2019-22
	Appendix 3 - Community Safety Consultation Survey 2019
	Appendix 4 - Community Safety Strategy on a Page

	7 Mid-Year Position 2019-20 - Progress and Performance Report
	8 Future Topics for Review
	9 Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel Minutes - June 2019

